UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE
BEFORE THE SECRETARY OF AGRICULTURE

In re: )
) AWA Docket No. 15-0058
Douglas Keith Terranova, an individual; and ) AWA Docket No. 15-0059
Terranova Enterprises, Inc., a Texas corporation, ) AWA Docket No. 16-0037
) AWA Docket No. 16-0038
Respondents. )
DECISION AND ORDER

Appearances:

Colleen A. Carroll, Esq., and Samuel D. Jockel, Esq., with the Office of the General Counsel,
United States Department of Agriculture, 1400 Independence Avenue, SW, Washington, DC 20250,
Jor the Complainant, Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (“APHIS”); and

William J. Cook, Esq., of Tampa, FL, for the Respondents, Douglas Keith Terranova and Terranova
Enterprises, Inc.

On Appeal to the Judicial Officer, Judge Bobbie J. McCartney.
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a disciplinary enforcement proceeding that initiated with a complaint filed by the
Administrator of the Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (“APHIS™), United States
Department of Agriculture (“Complainant”),! on January 16, 2015.> The Complaint alleged that
Douglas Keith Terranova and Terranova Enterprises, Inc. (“Respondents”) willfully violated the
Animal Welfare Act (7 U.S.C. §§ 2131 —2159) (“AWA” or “Act”) and the regulations
promulgated thereunder (9 C.F.R. §§ 1.1 — 3.142) (“Regulations™) on multiple occasions
between August 2010 and September 2013. On February 19, 2015, Respondents filed an answer

denying the material allegations of the Complaint.

' While I recognize the Administrator is a person, I will use the pronoun “it” when referring to
the “Complainant” herein.

2 The case was assigned AWA Docket Nos. 15-0068 and 15-0069.



On January 29, 2016, Complainant filed a second complaint alleging additional AWA
violations by Respondents in 2015.% Due to the similarity of the allegations, the case was
consolidated with the earlier action against Respondents. On February 22, 2016, Respondents
filed an answer denying the material allegations of the second Complaint.

On September 26, 2016, after conducting an in-person hearing and considering post-
hearing briefs filed by the parties, Administrative Law Judge Erin M. Wirth (“ALJ”)* issued an
Initial Decision and Order (“Initial Decision” or “IDO”) finding that Respondents willfully
violated the Act and Regulations, including a ﬁnding‘that Respondents committed willful
violations with respect to a tiger escape on April 20, 2013 and knowingly failed to obey a cease-
and-desist order issued by the Secretary under 7 U.S.C. § 2149(b).5 The Initial Decision also
ordered Respondents to cease and desist from further violations of the Act and Regulations,
suspended Respondents” AWA license for a period of thirty days, and assessed Respondents
joint-and-several civil penalties of $10,000 for the violations established and $11,500 for their
knowing failures to obey the Secretary’s cease-and-desist order.’

On November 29, 2016, Complainant filed a Petition for Appeal of the Initial Decision

and a “Memorandum of Points and Authorities” in support thereof,® contending that the number ,

3 The case was assigned AWA Docket Nos. 16-0037 and 16-0038.

4 Judge Wirth is — and was at all material times herein — an Administrative Law Judge of the
Federal Maritime Commission. Judge Wirth presided over the above-captioned proceedings on
behalf of the United States Department of Agriculture (“USDA”) pursuant to the Office of
Personnel Management (“OPM”) Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) Loan Program. See 5
U.S.C. § 3344; 5 C.F.R. § 930.208.

5IDO at 3.
b Id at 64, 67.
T1d at 68.

8 The Initial Decision was filed on September 26, 2016 and served on Complainant the following
date. Complainant had thirty days from the date of service to file an appeal with the Hearing
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and nature of Respondents’ violations are the kind of serious, repeat, and willful violations of the
Act and the Regulations and Standards that warrant assessment of higher civil penalties than
assessed by the ALJ when the required statutory factors are fully considered.’

On January 9, 2017, Respondents filed their Response to Appeal Petition and Cross
Appeal Petition.!® Respondents contend that the ALJ imposed excessive sanctions for what
Respondents describe as “a few non-willful paperwork and access violations.”!! Respondents
also assert that the ALJ erred in finding Respondents committed willful violations with respect to
a tiger escape on April 20, 2013.12

The Hearing Clerk transmitted the record to the Office of the Judicial Officer for

consideration and decision on January 20, 2017. On December 18, 2017, to “put to rest any

Appointments Clause claim that may arise in this proceeding,”® former Judicial Officer William

Cletk. 7 C.F.R. § 1.145(a). Weekends and federal holidays shall be included in the count;
however, if the due date falls on a Saturday, Sunday, or federal holiday, the last day for timely
filing shall be the following work day. 7 C.F.R. § 1.147(h). In this case, Complainant’s appeal
petition was due on or before October 27, 2016; however, per Complainant’s request, Judicial
Officer Jenson extended the filing deadline to November 29, 2016.

? See Appeal at 18 (“Consideration of the required statutory factors in accordance with
departmental precedent should have led the Judge to conclude that a greater civil penalty was
warranted for respondents’ ten violations.”); see also section 19(b) of the Act (7 U.S.C. §
2149(b)).

10 The Petition for Appeal was filed on November 29, 2016 and served on Respondents’ counsel
the same day. Respondents had twenty days from the date of service to file a response to
Complainant’s appeal. 7 C.F.R. § 1.145(b). Weekends and federal holidays shall be included in
the count; however, if the due date falls on a Saturday, Sunday, or federal holiday, the last day
for timely filing shall be the following work day. 7 C.F.R. § 1.147(h). In this case, Respondents’
response to the appeal was due on or before December 19, 2016; however, per Respondents’
request, Judicial Officer Jenson extended the filing deadline to January 9, 2017.

1 Response at 1.
2 1d at 3.
13 Remand Order at 1.



14 jssued an order remanding the case to the Chief Administrative Law Judge.'®

G. Jenson
Following resolution of the issues on remand, described more fully herein below, the Hearing
Clerk once again transmitted the record to the Office of the Judicial Officer for consideration and
decision of the ALJ’s September 26, 2016 Initial Decision.

After careful consideration of the record, including the entirety of the hearing transcripts
and all briefs and other filings by the parties, and for the reasons discussed more fully herein
below, I concur with Complainant’s contention that Respondents’ violations are the kind of
serious, repeat, and willful violations of the Act and the Regulations and Standards that warrant
assessment of higher civil penalties than assessed in the Initial Decision when the required
statutory factors are fully considered.'®

RELEVANT PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This proceeding initiated with a complaint filed by the Administrator of the Animal and
Plant Health Inspection Service (“APHIS”), United States Department of Agriculture
(“Complainant™),'” on January 16, 2015.'® The Complaint alleged that Douglas Keith Terranova
and Terranova Enterprises, Inc. (“Respondents”) willfully violated the Animal Welfare Act (7

U.S.C. §§ 2131 —2159) (“AWA” or “Act”) and the regulations promulgated thereunder (9

C.F.R. §§ 1.1 —3.142) (“Regulations”) on multiple occasions between August 2010 and

1 Judicial Officer Jenson retired from the federal service in August 2018.
15 Remand Order at 1-2.

16 See Appeal at 18 (“Consideration of the required statutory factors in accordance with
departmental precedent should have led the Judge to conclude that a greater civil penalty was
warranted for respondents’ ten violations.”). See also section 19(b) of the Act (7 U.S.C. §
2149(b)).

17 While I recognize the Administrator is a person, I will use the pronoun “it” when referring to
the “Complainant” herein.

18 The case was assigned AWA Docket Nos. 15-0068 and 15-0069.
4



September 2013. On February 19, 2015, Respondents filed an answer denying the material
allegations of the Complaint.

The case was originally assigned to former Administrative Law Judge Janice K. Bullard
(“Judge Bullard”);!® however, on December 16, 2015, Judge Bullard reassigned the case to
Administrative Law Judge Erin M. Wirth (“Judge Wirth” or “ALJ”) of the Federal Maritime
Commission.?’

On January 29, 2016, Complainant filed a second complaint against Respondents?!
alleging additional willful violations in 2015.22 The case (AWA Docket Nos. 16-0037 & 16-
0038) was assigned to Judge Wirth, who on February 5, 2016 issued an order consolidating the
proceeding with the earlier action (AWA Docket Nos. 15-0068 & 15-0069) and scheduled an
oral hearing.?? On February 22, 2016, Respondents filed an answer denying the material
allegations of the second Complaint.

Due to an issue of witness availability, Judge Wirth conducted the hearing in two parts.

19 Judge Bullard retired from the federal service in April 2016. She was Acting Chief
Administrative Law Judge at the time of reassignment.

20 Judge Wirth is — and was at all material times herein — an Administrative Law Judge of the
Federal Maritime Commission. Judge Wirth presided over the above-captioned proceedings on
behalf of the United States Department of Agriculture (“USDA”) pursuant to the Office of
Personnel Management (“OPM”) Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) Loan Program. See 5
U.S.C. § 3344, 5 C.F.R. § 930.208.

2 The case was assigned AWA Docket Nos. 16-0037 and 16-0038.

22 The Complaint alleged, infer alia, that Respondents failed to obey a cease and desist order that
was issued against them in AWA Docket Nos. 09-0155 and 10-0418. See 2015 Complaint §{ 5,
6; Terranova Enters., Inc., 70 Agric. Dec. 925, 978 (U.S.D.A. 2011) (Decision and Order as to
Terranova Enterprises, Inc. d/b/a Animal Encounters Inc. and Douglas Keith Terranova)
(hereinafter “Terranova I’).

23 See Order to Consolidate Proceedings and Scheduling Order at 1 (“Due to the similarity of the
allegations and to ensure efficient handling of the complaints, it is hereby ORDERED that
Dockets 15-0058 and 15-0059 and Dockets 16-0037 and 16-0038 be consolidated.”).
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An in-person hearing commenced March 21, 2016 through March 23, 2016 in Washington, D.C.,
to address events involvihg allegations that occurred away from Respondents’ property in Texas.
~ Events involving allegations that occurred on Respondents’ property were addressed when the
hearing resumed in Riverdale, Maryland on April 18, 2016 and April 19, 2016.2% The parties
filed post-hearing briefs thereafter.?>

On September 26, 2016, Judge Wirth issued an Initial Decision and Order (“Initial
Decision” or “IDO”) finding that Respondents willfully violated the Act and Regulations,
including a finding that Respondents committed willful violations with respect to-a tiger escape
on April 20, 20132° and knowingly failed to obey a cease-and-desist order issued by the
Secretary under 7 U.S.C. § 2149(b).2” The Initial Decision also directed Respondents to cease
and desist from further violations of the Act and Regulations, suspended Respondents’ AWA
license for a period of thirty days, and assessed Respondents joint-and-severalv civil penalties of
$10,000 for the violations established and $11,500 for their knowing failures to obey the
Secretary’s cease-and-desist order.?®

On November 29, 2016, Complainant filed a Petition for Appeal of the Initial Decision

24 The second part of the hearing was conducted via audio-visual equipment located in Dallas,
Texas and Palmetto, Florida.

25 On June 10, 2016, Complainant filed its proposed findings of fact, conclusions of law, order,
and brief in support thereof (“Complainant’s Brief?). On July 15, 2016, Respondents filed their
post-hearing brief and proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law (“Respondents’
Opposition Brief”). On July 29, 2016, Complainant filed its reply brief (“Complainant’s Reply
Brief™).

26 See IDO at 2, 11, 64.
2T Id. at 64, 67.
28 14 at 68.



and a “Memorandum of Points and Authorities’f in support thereof.?® On January 9, 2017,
Respondents filed their Response to Appeal Petition and Cross Appeal Petition.>® The Hearing
Clerk transmitted the record to the Office of the Judicial Officer for consideration and decision
on January 20, 2017.

On December 18, 2017, to “put to rest any Appointments Clause claim that may arise in
this proceeding,”! former Judicial Officer William G. Jenson (“Judicial Officer Jenson™)*?
issued an order remanding the case to the Chief Administrative Law Judge “for assignment to an
administrative law judge who has been appointed by the Secretary of Agriculture as an inferior
officer in accordance with the Appointments Clause.”** Judicial Officer Jenson directed that the
Administrative Law Judge assigned to the proceeding shall: (1) issue an order giving the parties
an opportunity to submit new evidence; (2) consider the record, including any ne_wly submitted
evidence the Judge finds relevant, material, and not unduly repetitious, and all substantive and

procedural actions taken by Judge Wirth; (3) determine whether to ratify or revise all prior

2% The Initial Decision was filed on September 26, 2016 and served on Complainant the
following date. Complainant had thirty days from the date of service to file an appeal with the
Hearing Clerk. 7 C.F.R. § 1.145(a). Weekends and federal holidays shall be included in the
count; however, if the due date falls on a Saturday, Sunday, or federal holiday, the last day for
timely filing shall be the following work day. 7 C.F.R. § 1.147(h). In this case, Complainant’s
appeal petition was due on or before October 27, 2016; however, per Complainant’s request,
Judicial Officer Jenson extended the filing deadline to November 29, 2016.

30 The Petition for Appeal was filed on November 29, 2016 and served on Respondents’ counsel
the same day. Respondents had twenty days from the date of service to file a response to
Complainant’s appeal. 7 C.F.R. § 1.145(b). Weekends and federal holidays shall be included in
the count; however, if the due date falls on a Saturday, Sunday, or federal holiday, the last day
for timely filing shall be the following work day. 7 C.F.R. § 1.147(h). In this case, Respondents’
response to the appeal was due on or before December 19, 2016; however, per Respondents’
request, Judicial Officer Jenson extended the filing deadline to January 9, 2017.

31 Remand Order at 1.
32 Judicial Officer Jenson retired from the federal service in August 2018.

33 Remand Order at 1-2.



actions taken by Judge Wirth; and (4) issue an order stating that the Administrative Law Judge
has completed consideration of the record and setting forth the determination regarding
ratification.>

The case was reassigned to Administrative Law Judge Jill S. Clifton (“Judge Clifton™),
who, on January 10, 2018, issued an order directing each party to file by January 30, 2018 a
position statement in response to the issues set forth in the Remand Order. Judge Clifton also
directed the parties to address “the appropriateness of granting or denying a STAY of these

»33 noting that several consolidated cases challenging the USDA’s authority to

proceedings,
adjudicate Horse Protection Act cases were pending before the U.S. Court of Appeals for the
D.C. Circuit.3

On January 29, 2018, Respondents filed their Position Statement indicating they
“believe[d] a stay of these proceedings [was] appropriate pending resolution of the appellate
proceedings referenced in the [January 10, 2018] Order.””*” Complainant filed its “Statement of
Position” on January 30, 2018, requesting, infer alia: (1) that Judge Clifton “forbear from taking
action in connection with the instant cases until such time as the Supreme Court issues an
opinion in Lucia or Bandimere”; and (2) that the “record of the proceedings be considered,

including without limitation ALJ Wirth’s adverse rulings on complainant’s objections . . . and

arguments advanced in complainant’s post-hearing briefs and appellate filings, with respect to

¥ Id at 2.

35 Order Regarding Reassignment of Case and Directing Each Party to File Response to Remand
by January 30, 2018 at 2.

36 See id. at 2 n.3 (“In those cases the USDA agreed that the cases should be held in abeyance
pending the Supreme Court’s disposition of two cases that will impact [them].”). Judge Clifton
was referencing Amelia Haselden, et al. v. USDA, No. 17-1235 (consolidated with AGRI-HPA
Nos. 17-0120, 17-0123, 17-0124, 17-0127, and 17-0128).

37 Respondents’ Position Statement at 1.



ALJ Wirth’s substantive and procedural rulings made during the hearing and in ALJ Wirth’s
initial decision and order.”3®

On February 28, 2018, Judge Clifton issued a Notice of Judge’s Postponement of Judge’s
Tasks on Remand, noting in pertinent part:

Discussion in the courts regarding “Appointment” and “Removal” of

Administrative Law Judges is an issue I am observing. My next task in these

dockets (AWA Docket Nos. 15-0058 & 15-0059; and 16-0037 & 16-0038), a

time-consuming task, is to review the Hearing transcripts and exhibits, and to

determine whether to ratify or revise previous actions by Administrative Law

Judges, and to determine whether to reconvene the Hearing. I will postpone my

review of the record and my determinations until we hear from the U.S. Supreme

Court, probably by the end of June 2018, regarding challenges to the authority of

Administrative Law Judges.*

On June 21, 2018, the Supreme Court issued a decision in Lucia v. SEC* holding that the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s administrative law judges are officers of the United
States and therefore subject to the Appointments Clause.*! The Court further held that in cases
heard and decided by an administrative law judge who was not appointed in accordan.ce with the
Appointments Clause, the appropriate remedy is a new hearing before a different and properly
appointed official.*?

On July 2, 2018, Judge Clifton corresponded with the parties by email, filed on the

record, asking the parties to “choose their course under Lucia v SEC” and “request[ing] that

38 Complainant’s Statement of Position at 4.

39 Notice of Judge’s Postponement of Judge’s Tasks on Remand at 2.
40138 S. Ct. 2044 (2018).

H Lucia v. SEC, 138 S. Ct. 2044, 2055 (2018).

2 See id. (“And we add today one more thing. That official cannot be Judge Eliot, even if he has
by now received (or receives sometime in the future) a constitutional appointment. . . . To cure
the constitutional error, another ALJ (or the Commission itself) must hold the new hearing to
which Lucia is entitled.”) (footnotes omitted)).
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Judge Wirth . . . file with the Hearing Clerk[] documentation that the parties may consider with
regarding to Judge Wirth’s appointment(s) as an administrative law judge.” On July 3, 2018,
Judge Wirth replied on the record, stating that she “was appointed by the Chairman of the
Federal Maritime Commission on January 3, 2010 and attaching a June 28, 2018 Commission
Order confirming the same.*? Neither party responded regarding their preferred course under
Lucia.

On August 28, 2018, Judge Clifton filed a “Summary of Judge’s Observations Prior to
Responding to Remand Order and Briefing Deadlines,” providing, inter alia:

The current proceedings, over which Judge Wirth presided, commenced on

January 16, 2015 after Judge Wirth’s January 3, 2010 appointment as an ALJ by

the FMC Chairman. The FMC Ratification Order holds that the FMC Chairman is

the head of the department and “is vested with authority to appoint ‘Officers’ at

the Commission.” Thus, it is my understanding that Judge Wirth had full authority

to preside over administrative proceedings as a properly appointed FMC ALJ. . ..

Based on the foregoing, my observation is that Judge Wirth was properly

appointed in her employing agency to preside over these dockets via interagency

agreement under the OPM ALJ Loan Program, and that Judge Wirth had proper

authority to preside over these dockets as an Officer subject to the Appointments

Clause and in accordance with 5 U.S.C. § 3344 and 5 C.F.R. § 930.208. While I

carefully consider any additional input submitted by the parties, I am inclined to

rule in accordance with my above observations in response to the Remand Order

by returning these dockets to the Judicial Officer.*
The Summary also established briefing deadlines, allowing Complainant until September 28,
2018 to file a brief proposing and supporting the course for proceedings and granting

Respondents until October 26, 2018 to file a brief proposing the course for proceedings and

responding to Complainant’s brief. Neither party submitted a brief or other response to Judge

# Judge Wirth’s Response to Correspondence at 1; see In Re: Ratification of Federal Maritime
Commission Administrative Law Judges, Docket No. 18-05, 2018 WL 3250258 (F.M.C. June 28,
2018).

# Summary of Judge’s Observations Prior to Responding to Remand Order and Briefing
Deadlines at 6 § 11.

10



Clifton’s Summary of Observations. Neither party appealed Judge Clifton’s finding.

On November 28, 2018, Judge Clifton filed a “Notice of Completion of Judge’s Tasks on
Remand,” concluding:

... I affirm my Observations contained in my August 28, 2018 issuance; my

tasks on Remand are completed; and Docket Nos. 15-0058 & 15-0059; and 16-

0037 & 16-0038, are ready for completion by the Judicial Officer of the parties’

appeals of the Decision issued on September 27, 2016, by Administrative Law

Judge Erin M. Wirth.#
Neither party appealed this finding. Accordingly, the Hearing Clerk transmitted the record to the
Office of the Judicial Officer for consideration of the September 26, 2016 Initial Decision.

SUMMARY OF THE PARTIES’ POSITIONS ON APPEAL

In her September 26, 2016 Decision and Order (“Initial Decision” or “IDO”),
Administrative Law Judge Erin M. Wirth (“Judge Wirth” or “ALJ")*¢ found “three willful
violations™’ by Respondents: (1) August 2, 2010 failure to have a responsible person available
to provide access to APHIS officials to conduct compliance investigations; (2) April 20, 2013
failure, during public exhibition, to handle an adult tiger with sufficient distance and/or barriers
between the tiger and the public and to have the tiger under the direct control and supervision of
a knowledgeable and experienced handler; and (3) November 14, 2015 through November 19,

2015 failure to timely submit an accurate travel itinerary.*® By committing these violations, the

ALJ concluded, Respondents knowingly failed to obey a cease and desist order made by the

# Notice of Completion of Judge’s Tasks on Remand at 1-2 q 3.

6 As previously stated, Judge Wirth is — and was at all material times herein — an Administrative
Law Judge of the Federal Maritime Commission. Judge Wirth presided over the above-captioned
proceedings on behalf of the United States Department of Agriculture (“USDA”) pursuant to the
Office of Personnel Management (“OPM”) Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) Loan Program.
See 5 U.S.C. § 3344; 5 C.F.R. § 930.208.

*7IDO at 2.
B Id at 2, 64, 67.
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Secretary under 7 U.S.C. § 2149(b).** However, the ALJ also found that while Respondents
violated 7 U.S.C. § 2146(a) and 9 C.F.R. §§ 2.126(a) and (b) on September 8, 2012°° by failing
to provide a responsible person to allow APHIS officials access to their place of business to
conduct an inspection, the violation “was not willful.”!

Additionally, the ALJ ruled that Complainant failed to prove by a preponderance of the
evidence that Respondents violated the AWA and Regulations as alleged in paragraphs 8, 9(a),
9(b), 9(c), 9(d), 9(e), 9(f), and 9(g) of the 2015 Complaint and in paragraphs 7, 9, 10(a); 10(b),
10(c), 10(d), 10(e), 10(f), 10(g), 10(h), and 10(i) of the 2016 Complaint and dismissed those
violations.’” The ensuing Order: (1) directed Respondents to cease and desist from further
violations of the AWA and Regulations; (2) suspended Respondents’ AWA license for a period
of thirty days; (3) assessed Respondents a joint aﬁd several civil-money penalty of $10,000 for
the violations established; and (4) assessed Respondents a joint and several civil penalty of
$1,650 for each knowing failure to obey the Secretary’s cease and desist order, for a total of
$11,550.%

On appeal, Complainant argues that the ALJ erred by: (1) imposing inadequate sanctions

for the violations she found were committed; (2) finding that Respondents’ violation of the

Y14 at 67.

30 The 2015 Complaint alleges that the violation was on September 28, 2012 — not September 8,
2012, as the ALJ stated in her Conclusions of Law. See IDO at 64 (“On September 8, 2012,
Respondents failed to provide access to allow APHIS officials access to their place of business to
conduct an inspection . . .”); 2015 Complaint at 5 § 6 (“On or about August 2, 2010, and
September 28, 2012, respondents willfully violated the Act and the Regulations by failing to
have a responsible person available to provide access to APHIS officials to inspect its facilities,
animals and records during normal business hours. 7 U.S.C. § 2146(a); 9 C.E.R. § 2.126(a).”).

STIDO at 9, 64.
32 Id. at 64-67; 2015 Complaint at 5-7; 2016 Complaint at 5-7.
3 IDO at 67.

12



“access Regulations” on September 28, 2012 was not serious and not willful; and (3) failing to
find that Complainant proved the remaining allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.**
While the ALJ seemed to accept many of Respondents’ arguments as credible defenses to the
violations alleged, Complainant characterizes Respondents as unrepentant, repeat offenders who
have continued to act in bad faith.

Conversely, Respondents contend that the ALJ imposed excessive sanctions for what
Respondents describe as “a few non-willful paperwork and access violations.”** Respondents
also assert the ALJ-erred in finding Respondents committed willful violations with respect to a
tiger escape on April 20, 2013.5

DISCUSSION OF ISSUES

I. Number and Nature of Violations

As an initial matter, Complainant maintains that each Respondent committed ten
violations and concludes that the ALJ, when making sanction determinations, undercounted the
number of violations she had found.” Respondents do not address this argument.

Complainant is correct. Throughout the Initial Decision, the ALJ “refers to the number of
violations variously as ‘three’ and ‘four’ occurring on ‘seven days,’ . . . but the number of
violations that the Judge found that the Respondents committed is ten.”® As Complainant

observes,” the ALJ found that Complainant proved by a preponderance of the evidence that

5+ See Appeal at 15, 17, 29.

5> Response at 1.

56 Id at 3.

37 See Appeal at 15-16.

8 Id. at 16. See IDO at 46, 67.
59 Appeal at 14-15.
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Respondents committed the violations alleged in paragraphs 6 (access) and 7 (handling) of the
2015 Complaint® and the violations alleged in paragraph 8 (itinerary) of the 2016 Complaint:®!

3. On August 2, 2010, Respondents willfully violated the Act and the
regulations by failing to have a responsible person available to provide
access to APHIS officials to conduct compliance investigations. 7 U.S.C.
§ 2146(a); 9 C.F.R. § 2.126(a).

4, On September 8, 2012,%2 Respondents failed to provide access to allow
APHIS officials access to their place of business to conduct an inspection,
in violation of 7 U.S.C. § 2146(a) and 9 C.F.R. § 2.126(a) and (b). This
violation, however, was not willful.

5. On or about April 20, 2013, Respondents willfully violated the regulations
by failing, during public exhibition, to handle an adult tiger with sufficient
distance and/or barriers between the tiger and the public, and to have the
tiger under the direct control and supervision of a knowledgeable and
experienced animal handler. 9 C.F.R. §§ 2.131(b)(1), 2.131(c)(1),
2.131(d)(3).#

6. From November 14-19, 2015, Respondents willfully violated the
regulations, 9 C.F.R. § 2.126(c), by failing to timely submit an accurate
travel itinerary.

Initial Decision at 64.

In short, the ALJ found that Respondents committed one willful violation of the access

Regulations, one “not willful” violation of the access Regulations,® two willful violations of the

69 See IDO at 7-16, 64; 2015 Complaint at 5 {6, 7.
61 See IDO at 30-32, 64; 2016 Complaint at 5 4 8.

62 The Complaint in the 2015 case alleges that the violation occurred on September 28, 2012. See
2015 Complaint at 5 q 6.

8 Although the ALJ’s discussion states that Complainant did not prove a violation of section
2.131(b)(1) (9 C.F.R. § 2.131(b)(1)), the Conclusions of Law cite that section as having been
violated. See IDO at 15, 64. I infer that the citation in the Conclusions of Law was unintended.

8% Despite noting that “[w]illfulness is not required for . . . a monetary fine,” the ALJ chose not to
impose any penalties for this violation. IDO at 7, 9 (“Accordingly, the evidence establishes that
on September 28, 2012, a violation occurred but the violation was not willful and no additional
penalty is imposed from this violation.”).

14



handling Regulations,® and multiple willful violations of the itinerary Regulations.%® The Act
provides that, when assessing civil penalties, “[e]ach violation and each day during which a
violation continues shall be a separate offense.”®” Although the ALJ appears to count the number
of itinerary violations as five,%® the number of days represented by November 14 through
November 19 is six. Therefore, the total number of violations found by the ALJ on this issue is
ten, and I conclude the ALJ undercounted those violations when determining sanctions.®
Further, as discussed more fully herein below, the record reflects that the ALJ also
utilized a flawed analysis to reject several other violations in their entirety.” More specifically,
the ALJ improperly declined to find a number of violations on the ground “. . . no animal or
person was actually harmed.””! In so doing, the ALJ “completely missed the point of the

Regulations and Standards: prevention.”’?

6 Elsewhere in the Initial Decision, the ALJ improperly treats Respondents’ violations of
sections 2.131(c)(1) and 2.131(d)(3) (9 C.F.R. §§ 2.131(c)(1), 2.131(d)(3)) as one violation. See
IDO Order at 2 (“As discussed more fully below, three willful violations are found: August 2,
2010, unable to access facility; April 20, 2013, animal escape; and November 14-19, 2015,
itinerary not filed.”), 46 (“One of the violations is grave, involving the escape of a tiger in
Selina[sic], Kansas.”).

6 See IDO at 64.
677U.8.C. § 2149(b).
8 See IDO at 67.

% See supra note 65 and accompanying text; Knapp v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., 796 F.3d 445, 464
n.8 (5th Cir. 2015) (“[N]either the AWA nor the regulations require a showing of willfulness for
the imposition of a civil monetary penalty.”). Assuming arguendo that the ALJ had considered
the non-willful violation when assessing civil penalties, she still undercounted the total number
of violations established by treating the two handling violations as one and miscounting the
number of violation days from November 14 to November 19.

70 See Appeal at 50-51.
! See id.

2 Id at 51 (“The Judge failed completely to apprehend that the purpose of requiring those who
have custody of animals subject to the Act to maintain their facilities in a manner that meets the

15



The ALJ’s Initial Decision, when considered as a whole, reflects a fundamental
misunderstanding of the severity of the violations and the adverse impact of Respondents’
willful, repeated, and prolonged violations of the Act and the Regulations and Standards on the
Administrator’s ability to enforce the AWA. This is made clear by the fact that the ALJ
described only one violation (handling) as “grave” and described the access violations as
“minor,”” as well the fact that the ALJ utilized a flawed analysis to reject several other
violations in their entirety. After careful consideration of the record, including the entirety of the
hearing transcripts and all briefs and other filings by the parties, and for the reasons discussed
more fully herein below, I concur with Complainant’s contention that Respondents’ violations
are the kind of serious, repeat, and willful violations of the Act and the Regulations and
Standards that warrant assessment of higher civil penalties than assessed in the Initial Decision
when the required statutory factors are fully considered.”

A. Tiger Escape (April 20, 2013)

On cross-appeal, Respondents assert the ALJ erred in finding that Respondents committed

willful handling violations with respect to a tiger escape on April 20, 2013.7
On April 20, 2013, a tiger escaped during a circus performance in Salina,
Kansas. . .. The Judge found that Respondents willfully violated 9 C.F.R. §

2.131(d)(3) by failing to have the tiger under direct control and supervision of a
knowledgeable and experienced handler. She also found that Respondents

minimum Standards is to ensure against the potential harm to animals from substandard
conditions and treatment.”).

3 See id. at 18-19 (“Although the Judge described only one violation (handling) as ‘grave,” and
described the access violations as ‘minor,” the respondents’ handling violations and failures to
provide access for inspection are the kind of serious, repeat violations that merit assessment of
the maximum civil penalties.”).

" See id. at 18 (“Consideration of the required statutory factors in accordance with departmental
precedent should have led the Judge to conclude that a greater civil penalty was warranted for
respondents’ ten violations.”). See also section 19(b) of the Act (7 U.S.C. § 2149(b)).

75 Response at 13.

16



willfully violated 9 C.F.R. § 2.131(c)(1) by failing to maintain sufficient barriers
or distance between the tiger and the public. The Judge erred.

Response at 13. For the below-stated reasons, I reject Respondents’ argument and affirm the
ALJ’s findings that Respondents willfully violated 9 C.F.R. §§ 2.131(c)(1) and 2.131(d)(3).

Congress intended for the exhibition of animals to be accomplished iﬁ a manner that is
safe for both animals and humans.”® To that end, the Regulations require that during public
exhibition “any animal must be handled so there is minimal risk of harm to the animal and to the
public, with sufficient distance and/or barriers between the animal and the general viewing
public so as to assure the safety of animals and the public” (9 C.F.R. § 2.131(c)(1)) and
“dangerous animals such as lions, tigers, wolves, bears, or elephants must be under the direct
control and supervision of a knowledgeable and experienced animal handler” (9 C.F.R. §
2.131(d)(3)).

Respondents argue that: (1) the record does not establish that Respondents failed to
maintain a sufficient distance between a tiger and a member of the public after the animal’s
escape (9 C.F.R. § 2.131(c)(1)) and (2) the evidence shows that the tiger was under the direction
control and supervision of a knowledgeable and experienced handler at the time of the escape (9
CF.R. §2.131(d)(3)).” Respondents state:

The evidence shows that the tiger did not escape due to any willful failures in

staffing or training, and after the tiger escaped, Respondents professionally

handled the tiger to keep it and the public from harm. If anything, the evidence

shows that Respondents should be commended for how expertly they handled the

tiger in response to a human error.

Response at 19. Conversely, Complainant contends the fact that the tiger escape occurred

76 See 7U.S.C. § 2131; Animal Legal Defense Fund, Inc. v. Glickman, 154 F.3d 426, 444-45
(D.C. Cir. 1998).

1DO at 16.
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essentially proves the violations.”

First, the ALJ correctly concluded that “Complainant established that during a public
exhibition, the tiger was not “handled so there [was] minimal risk of harm to the animal and to
the public, with sufficient distance and/or barriers between the animal and the general viewing
public so as to assure the safety of animals and the public.””” I agree with the ALJ that there is
“little question that having a tiger walking through an arena filled with spectators and out onto a
public concourse constitutes a failure to provide sufficient distance and barriers between the

‘animal and the general viewing public.”®® Given that the primary barrier between the tiger and
the public during a circus performance is the handler — and, thereafter, the tiger’s cage — it is
evident Respondents did not provide a sufficient barrier between the tiger and the public in this

case. !
Respondents challenge the ALJ’s finding that Respondents violated 9 C.F.R. §

2.131(c)(1) “on grounds that the tiger was in close proximity to a member of the public in a

restroom” and take issue with the ALJ’s reliance “on [the] extremely questionable testimony of

_’82 However, it is the consistent practice of the Judicial Officer to give great

8 Appeal at 35.
P IDO at 15.
80 ld

81 See id. at 52 (“Upon the conclusion of the performance, one of the tigers (Leah) was not
placed in an enclosure, but escaped and ran out into the arena’s concourse. CX 8; CX 10; CX 11;
CX 12; CX 13.7), 53-56.

82 See Response at 18 (“Indeed, the Judge expressly found that the record did not accurately
reflect the distance between the tiger andﬁas she credited the testimony of both
d Respondents’ witnesses and found it was unclear how far the tiger was from
sic]. Given this lack of clarity, the Judge necessarily erred in finding that
“omplaiant violated 9 C.F.R. § 2.131(c)(1) by failing to maintain a sufficient distance between
Leah [and] a member of the public.”).
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weight to findings by, and particularly the credibility determinations of, administrative law
judges since they have the opportunity to hear witnesses testify.** I have examined the record in

light of Respondents” argument and find no basis for reversing the ALJ’s credibility

determination regarding - Furthermore, the ALJ was not required to establish the

exact distance between the tiger and-hc fact the tiger escaped and was able to

roam into a public restroom while a person was inside shows the distance between the tiger and
the public was inadequate.

Second, the ALJ correctly concluded that the tiger was not under the direct control and
supervision of a knowledgeable and experienced handler at the time of its escape.®® Respondents
admit that the tiger’s handler “left a cage door open that allowed [the tiger| to escape, and then
he could not open an empty cage door to allow the tiger into the proper cage.”®® As a result,
“[t]he tiger was on the loose from approximately 7:25 p.m. to 7:32 p.m.”¥ If the tiger had been
“under the supervision and control” of a knowledgeable and experienced handler as Respondents

contend, the animal should not have escaped its cage and entered into the arena, concourse, or

public restroom.®® Further, the fact Mr. Terranova and _obscwcd, followed, and

83 See Jenne, 74 Agric. Dec. 358, 368 (U.S.D.A. 2015); Perry, 72 Agric. Dec. 635, 647
(U.S.D.A. 2013) (Decision and Order as to Craig A. Perry and Perry’s Wilderness Ranch & Zoo,
Inc.); KOAM Produce, Inc., 65 Agric. Dec. 1470, 1476 (U.S.D.A. 2006) (Order Den. Pet. to
Reconsider); Bond, 65 Agric. Dec. 1175, 1183 (U.S.D.A. 2006) (Order Den. Pet. to Reconsider).

84 See IDO at 14 (¢ testimony at the hearing was credible. The evidence shows
that she was initial ck into the restroom, while the tiger was in the concourse, and
when the tiger entered the restroom she was told to leave due to the tiger in the restroom. It is not
clear exactly how far the tiger was from her.”).

% Id. at 15.

86 Response at 14.

871DO at 56 (citing CX-11 at 1).

88 Response at 16.



talked to the tiger after she escaped does not demonstrate direct control and supervision;* to the
contrary, the record demonstrates that the tiger was “loose in the arena and on the concourse.”®
Respondents argue “the evidence shows that the Respondents were staffed with
experienced handlers.”! However, that Respondents might have had experienced handlers on
staff does not mean that the escaped tiger was under the control and supervision of one such
handler. There can be no dispute that Respondents” handling of tigers allowed at least one to

escape, potentially causing injury to humans and placing both people and the tiger at risk of

injury or death.”” In fact, Respondents admit that the escape occurred as a result of an

8 See IDO at 15-16; Tr. 3623-64, 454-56. Mr.-was the tiger trainer and presenter at the
performance. See IDO at 10-11.

P 1DO at 16.

9 Response at 13. Respondents’ argument is not supported by the record. See IDO at 15-16;
Response at 14 (“According to [[ilhe circus ringmaster, he had hired four laborers to assist
with moving the tiger cages, but he had to fire one of them prior to the first show. Tr. 316-317. It
is unclear that Ter many laborers were working. . .”"); CX-14 (Declaration of
IES InvcstigatonW“Mr. Terranova told me that an individual named [N
was working on closing and locking the doors and disconnecting the cages, but he was going
more slowly than usual because he didn’t have anyone else helping him.”); Tr. 301 (Testimony
of (“I think what happened, my knowledge of the event where the cat jumped

out, was there were extra hands that came in to help because we were a little short-handed on the
crew.”).

%2 See Am. Amusement Machine Ass’nv. Kendrick, 244 F.3d 572, 576 (7th Cir. 2001) (“[T]he
Animal Welfare Act requires secure containment of dangerous animals in part because if they
escape and injure a human being they are likely to be killed.”) (citing Hoctor v. U.S. Dep’t of
Agric., 82 F.3d 165, 168 (7th Cir. 1996)); Hoctor v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., 82 F.3d 165, 168-69
(7th Cir. 1996) (“And we may also assume that the containment of dangerous animals is a proper
concern of the Department in the enforcement of the Animal Welfare Act, even though the
purpose of the Act is to protect animals from pcople rather than people from animals. Even Big
Cats are not safe outside their compounds . . . if one of those Cats mauled or threatened a human
being, the Cat might get into serious trouble and thus it is necessary to protect human beings
from Big Cats in order to protect the Cats from human beings, which is the important thing under
the Act.”); Int’l Siberian Tiger Found., 61 Agric. Dec. 53, 78 (U.S.D.A. 2002) (Decision as to
The International Siberian Tiger Foundation, Diana Cziraky, The Siberian Tiger Foundation, and
Tiger Lady) (“Respondents’ lions and tigers are simply too large, too strong, too quick, and too
unpredictable for a person (or persons) to restrain the animal or for a member of the public in
contact with one of the lions or tigers to have the time to move to safety.”).
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inexperienced person working with the tiger cages:

In accordance with Respondents’ usual procedure, that night Terranova worked

the front door and mpen sed the cage doors. |25
part of the crew supplied by the mrcusMad worked the tiger cages for
Terrangva before and had opened and closed the doors many times. . . . Terranova
trusted-mp]icilly to lock the doors. . ..

On the night of the event, Terranova was at the front door listening for
[t was dark and everyone was wearing black. Tr. 303, 446. At the end of the
act, Terranova looked at F\ the arena and heard -say, “oh no” so
he turned and saw .eah on the floor. Leah was actually trying to get in the cage,
but the door had jammed shut. Tr. 447. Unknown to Terranova, a
friend of s who was part of the motorcycle act was assisting. Ives was
not supposed to be with the tigers and Terranova did not learn of his presence
until after the fact. Everybody was dressed in black and working in the dark with
eight foot cages. Tr. 448, 519. Apparentl ad left a cage door open that
allowed Leah to escape, and then he could not open an empty cage door to allow
the tiger into the proper cage. Tr. 449-450.

There is no evidence that Terranova needed or wanted assistance from
ccording to the circus ringmaster, he had hired four laborers to
assist with moving the tiger cages, but he had to fire one of them prior to the first
show. Tr. 316-317. It is unclear whether Terranova knew how many laborers were
working, but he never testified that he was understaffed. . . .
Response at 13-14. Contrary to Respondents’ assertion, the manner in which -‘bccamc
involved” is not relevant here.”® As the ALJ correctly stated, “Respondents knew or should have
known who was working with the tigers” and were responsible for properly training those
individuals.”*

It should be noted that for suspension or revocation to be authorized in this case, “only

one of the violations need be willful; the government need not show that all of the violations

9 See Response at 16.
% IDO at 14, 16.
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were willful.”®® Nonetheless, willfulness is present here as Respondents were previously found to
have insufficient trained personnel available to work with their animals.’® As the ALJ stated:

Respondents have . . . previously been found in violation of the Animal
Welfare Act. In the prior case, the Judge found that “Mr. Terranova’s laissez-faire
supervision led to camels being left unattended and the series of poor decisions
that led to Kamba’s escape and injury in Enid, Oklahoma” and that “[i]t is clear to
me that additional trained personnel and more attention to decision making could
have averted or mitigated some of the unfortunate events that led to two elephant
escapes.” Terranova 2009/2010 Cases at 57. While the escape sub judicie did not
result in injury to the tiger . . . the problem of insufficient supervision and human
error again contributed to the escape.

Initial Decision at 45. Despite having been warned about the consequences of not having
sufficient trained personnel, Respondents “willfully proceeded with the exhibition without a
sufficient number o[f] sufficiently trained staff.”®’ It is immaterial that Respondents “did not

intend to place the public in close proximity to the animals.”® Respondents acted with careless

% Ramos v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., 332 F. App’x 814, 823 (11th Cir. 2009) (citing Cox v. U.S.
Dep’t of Agric., 925 F.2d 1102, 1105 (8th Cir. 1991), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 860 (1991)); see 7
U.S.C. § 2149(a); 5 U.S.C. § 558(c).

% See IDO at 16; Terranova I at 57.

971DO at 16. See Pearson v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., 411 F. App’x 866, 872 (6th Cir. 2011)
(“Petitioner’s failure to bring his facilities into compliance after repeated warnings also makes
clear that his violations were willful.”) (citing Hodgins v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., No. 97-3899, 238
F.3d 421, 2000 WL 1785733, at *9 (6th Cir. Nov. 20, 2000)); see also Arab Stock Yard, Inc., 37
Agric. Dec. 293, 304-05 (U.S.D.A. 1978) (“There are, of course, differing degrees of willfulness.
Although it is not necessary to show that prior warning letters were sent in order to prove
willfulness . . . , proof that prior warning letters were sent indicates an intentional disregard of
the regulatory requirements, i.e., that respondent’s violations were grossly willful.”), aff’d mem.
582 F.2d 39 (5th Cir. 1978).

B 1DO at 45. See Lang, 57 Agric. Dec. 59, 81-82 (U.S.D.A. 1998) (“An action is willful under
the Administrative Procedure Act if a prohibited act is done intentionally, irrespective of evil
intent, or done with careless disregard of statutory requirements. Therefore, the fact that
Respondent did not ‘intentionally cause harm to the lechwe’ . . . would not prevent a finding
(with respect to the lechwe that died on June 10, 1994) that Respondent intentionally, or with
careless disregard of requirements, failed to handle the animal as expeditiously and carefully as
possible in a manner that does not cause trauma, behavioral stress, physical harm, and
unnecessary discomfort, in violation of section 2.131(a)(1) of the Regulations (9 C.F.R. §

2.131(a)(1)).”).
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disregard of statutory requirements;” therefore, I affirm the ALI’s conclusion that “the evidence
compels a finding that Complainant has established that this was a willful violation.”!*
B. Violations of Access and Itinerary Regulations

With regard to access and inspection of records and property and to the submission of

itineraries, the Regulations provide as follows:

§ 2.126  Access and inspection of records and property; submission of
itineraries.

(a) Each dealer, exhibitor, intermediate handler, or carrier, shall, during
business hours, allow APHIS officials:

(1) To enter its place of business;

(2) To examine records required to be kept by the Act and the regulations
in this part; '

(3) To make copies of the records;
(4) To inspect and photograph the facilities, property and animals, as the
APHIS officials consider necessary to enforce the provisions of the

Act, the regulations and the standards in this subchapter; and

(5) To document, by the taking of photographs and other means,
conditions and areas of noncompliance.

» See Coosemans Specialties, Inc. v. Dep’t of Agric., 482 ¥.3d 560, 567 (D.C. Cir. 2007), reh’g
en banc denied, 482 F.3d 560 (D.C. Cir. 2007); Toney v. Glickman, 101 F.3d 1236, 1241 (8th
Cir. 1996); Cox v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., 925 F.2d 1102, 1105 (8th Cir. 1991) (“Willfulness, as
both parties point out in their briefs, includes not only intent to do a prohibited act but also
careless disregard of statutory requirements.”), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 860 (1991); Finer Food
Sales Co. v. Block, 708 ¥.2d 774, 777-78 (D.C. Cir. 1983); Am. Fruit Purveyors, Inc. v. United
States, 630 F.2d 370, 374 (5th Cir. 1980) (per curiam), cert. denied, 450 U.S. 997 (1981);
George Steinberg & Son, Inc. v. Butz, 491 F.2d 988, 994 (2d Cir. 1974), cert. denied, 419 U.S.
830 (1974); Goodman v. Benson, 286 ¥.2d 896, 900 (7th Cir. 1961); E. Produce Co. v. Benson,
278 F.2d 606, 609 (3d Cir. 1960); Shepherd, 57 Agric. Dec. 242, 286 (U.S.D.A. 1998). See also
Butz v. Glover Livestock Comm’n Co., 411 U.S. 182, 187 n.5 (1973) (“*Willfully’ could refer to
either intentional conduct or conduct that was merely careless or negligent.”); Volpe Vito, Inc. v.
U.S. Dep’t of Agric., No. 97-3603, 1999 WL 16562, at *2 (6th Cir. Jan. 7, 1999) (“‘Willful’
means action knowingly taken by one subject to the statutory provisions in disregard of the
action’s legality; no showing of malicious intent is necessary.”).

101DO at 16.
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(b) The use of a room, table, or other facilities necessary for the proper
examination of records and inspection of the property or animals must be
extended to APHIS officials by the dealer, exhibitor, intermediate handler or
carrier, and a responsible adult shall be made available to accompany APHIS
officials during the inspection process.

(c) Any person who is subject to the Animal Welfare regulations and who
intends to exhibit any animal at any location other than the person’s approved
site (including, but not limited to, circuses, traveling educational exhibits,
animal acts, and petting zoos), except for travel that does not extend
overnight, shall submit a written itinerary to the AC Regional Director. The
itinerary shall be received by the AC Regional Director no fewer than 2 days
in advance of any travel and shall contain complete and accurate information
concerning the whereabouts of any animal intended for exhibition at any
location other than the person’s approved site. If the exhibitor accepts an
engagement for which travel will begin with less than 48 hours’ notice, the
exhibitor shall immediately contact the AC Regional Director in writing with
the required information. APHIS expects such situations to occur infrequently,
and exhibitors who repeatedly provide less than 48 hours’ notice will, after

* notice by APHIS, be subject to increased scrutiny under the Act.

(1) The itinerary shall include the following:

(1) The name of the person who intends to exhibit the animal and
transport the animal for exhibition purposes, including any
business name and current Act lice or registration number and,
in the event that any animal is leased, borrowed, loaned, or
under some similar arrangement, the name of the person who
owns such animal;

(ii))  The name, identification number or identifying characteristics,
species (common or scientific name), sex and age of each
animals; and

(iii)  The names, dates, and locations (with addresses) where the
animals will travel, be housed, and be exhibited, including all
anticipated dates and locations (with addresses) for any stops
and layovers that allow or require removal of the animals from
the transport enclosures. Unanticipated delays of such length
shall be reported to the AC Regional Director the next APHIS
business day. APHIS Regional offices are available each
weekday, except on Federal holidays, from 8 a.m. to 5 p.m.

(2) The itinerary shall be revised as necessary, and the AC Regional
Director shall be notified of any changes. If initial notification of a
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change due to an emergency is made by a means other than email or
facsimile, it shall be followed by written documentation at the earliest
possible time. For changes that occur after normal business hours, the
change shall be conveyed to the AC Regional Director no later than
the following APHIS business day. APHIS Regional offices are
available each weekday, except on Federal holidays, from 8 a.m. to 5
p.m.

9 C.F.R. §2.126.

1. Violations of Access Regulations (September 28, 2012)

At the outset, it is undisputed that Respondents failed to provide APHIS access for
inspection on September 28, 2012.'°! The ALJ made this clear in her Initial Decision, which
provides in pertinent part:

There is no dispute that -ttempted to inspect Respondents” facility
during normal business hours on two occasions and was unable to do so. . . .
Respondents were aware that they are required to have an adult present and
available to permit access to facilities, as they were found in violation of this
section in a prior case. . . .

On September 28, 2012, Mr. Terranova had designated
as a responsible person to be present for the jnspection but apparently

the gate had been closed inadvertently before AC rived for the ingpection.
Tr. 697-699. Mr. Terranova arranged for ACI return and inspect within the
month. Tr. 699. Mr. Terranova’s testimony is ctedited, particularly as he was
forthcoming about the 2010 violation. Respondents do not contest that ACI
was unable to inspect the facility on this date. Accordingly, the evidence
establishes that on September 28, 2012, a violation occurred but the violation was
not willful and no additional penalty is imposed from this violation.

Initial Decision at 8-9.

Complainant, however, asserts the ALJ erred in finding that Respondents’ violation of the

101 See id. at 8 (“There is no dispute that ACI !ttempted to inspect Respondents’ facility
during normal business hours on two occasions and was unable to do so0.”); 2015 Answer at 2-3
(admitting that on September 28, 2012 an “APHIS inspector arrived [at Respondents’ facility] to
inspect and could not reach Respondent by telephone and accordingly left.”).
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access Regulations on September 28, 2012!% was not willful.!®® Complainant contends the ALJ
manipulated the meaning of “willful”!® and wrongly characterized Respondents’ admitted
failure to provide APHIS access for inspection'® as a “minor,” “technical violation” for which
no sanction was warranted.'%

I agree with Complainant’s contention that the ALJ erroneously failed to find that
Respondents’ violation of the access Regulations was not willful. A violation is willful under the
Administrative Procedure Act (5 U.S.C. § 558(c)) “if a prohibited act is done intentionally,

irrespective of evil intent, or done with careless disregard of statutory requirements.”'%” As the

ALJ acknowledged, “Respondents were aware that they are required to have an adult present and

102 See supra note 50.

103 Appeal at 26. See IDO at 64 § 4 (“On September 8, 2012, Respondents failed to provide
access to allow APHIS officials to access their place of business to conduct an inspection, in
violation of 7 U.S.C. § 2146(a) and 9 C.F.R. § 2.126(a) and (b). This violation, however, was
not willful.”).

104 See Perry’s Wilderness Ranch & Zoo, Inc., 71 Agric. Dec. 876, 880 (U.S.D.A. 2012) (“A
willful act under the Administrative Procedure Act (5 U.S.C. § 558(c)) is an act in which the
violator intentionally does an act which is prohibited, irrespective of evil motive or reliance on
erroneous advice, or acts with careless disregard of statutory requirements.”).

105 See IDO at 8 (“The Respondents do not contest that the inspectors were not able to see the
property[.]”) (citing Respondents’ Opposition Brief at 2).

106 Appeal at 26-29.

197 Coosemans Specialties, Inc. v. Dep’t of Agric., 482 F.3d 560, 567 (D.C. Cir. 2007), reh’g en
banc denied, 482 F.3d 560 (D.C. Cir. 2007); Toney v. Glickman, 101 F.3d 1236, 1241 (8th Cir.
1996); Cox v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., 925 F.2d 1102, 1105 (8th Cir. 1991), cert. denied, 502 U.S.
860 (1991); Finer Food Sales Co. v. Block, 708 ¥.2d 774, 777-78 (D.C. Cir. 1983); Am. Fruit
Purveyors, Inc. v. United States, 630 F.2d 370, 374 (5th Cir. 1980) (per curiam), cert. denied,
450 U.S. 997 (1981); George Steinberg & Son, Inc. v. Butz, 491 F.2d 988, 994 (2d Cir. 1974),
cert. denied, 419 U.S. 830 (1974); Goodman v. Benson, 286 F.2d 896, 900 (7th Cir. 1961); E.
Produce Co. v. Benson, 278 F.2d 606, 609 (3d Cir. 1960); Shepherd, 57 Agric. Dec. 242, 286
(U.S.D.A. 1998). See also Butz v. Glover Livestock Comm’n Co., 411 U.S. 182, 187 n.5 (1973)
(““Willfully’ could refer to either intentional conduct or conduct that was merely careless or
negligent.”); Volpe Vito, Inc. v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., No. 97-3603, 1999 WL 16562, at *2 (6th
Cir. Jan. 7, 1999) (““Willful’ means action knowingly taken by one subject to the statutory
provisions in disregard of the action’s legality; no showing of malicious intent is necessary.”).
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available to permit access to facilities, as they were found in violation of this section in a prior
case.”'%® The record plainly establishes that Respondents intentionally left the place of business
during normal business hours and did not grant APHIS inspectors access to the facility—
intentional conduct that was by definition willful under the Administrative Procedure Act.'®
Although Respondents introduced testimony that Mr. Terranova had designated a
“representative person” to allow APHIS to enter Respondents’ place of business to conduct
inspections, the designation was meaningless as neither Respondents nor their appointed
designee gave APHIS access to the facility.! 1 “The requirement that exhibitors allow APHIS
officials access to and inspection of facilities, property, records, and animals, during business
hours, as provided in 9 C.F.R. § 2.126(a), is unqualified and contains no exemption.”!!! That
Respondents’ gate might have been closed or locked, inadvertently or otherwise, or that no one
was available does not excuse their violation.!'? Likewise, the fact that the APHIS inspector

could have returned or did return to conduct an inspection at a later date does not eliminate

18 1DO at 8.

199 See Terranova Enters., Inc., 71 Agric. Dec. 867, 880 (U.S.D.A. 2012) (Decision and Order as
to Craig Perry and Perry’s Wilderness Ranch & Zoo, Inc.) (“It is undisputed that Mr. Perry
intentionally left his place of business during business hours . . . without designating a person to
allow Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service officials to enter that place of business and
that, during Mr. Perry’s absence, an Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service official
attempted to enter the place of business to conduct activities listed in 9 C.F.R. § 2.126. 1
conclude Mr. Perry’s intentional conduct is by definition ‘willful’ under the Administrative
Procedure Act; thus, I conclude Mr. Perry and PWR willfully violated 7 U.S.C. § 2146(a) and 9
C.F.R. § 2.126 on December 15, 2009.”).

10 See Tr. 697-99; Response at 7.
11 Greenly, 72 Agric. Dec. 603, 617 (U.S.D.A. 2013).

12 See id. (“The fact that no one was at Respondents’ place of business to allow APHIS officials
access to the facilities, property, records, and animals is not a defense.”).
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Respondents’ violation.''?

Contrary to the ALJ’s assessment, an exhibitor’s failure to allow access as shown in the
record is serious; it is neither a “minor” violation nor a mere technicality.! !4 “Each exhibitor is
required to allow inspection by [APHIS] employees to assure the exhibitor is complying with the
Animal Welfare Act and the Regulations.”!!> As the Judicial Officer has previously held:

Interference with Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service officials’ duties

under the Animal Welfare Act and the failure to allow Animal and Plant Health

Inspection Service officials access to facilities, animals, and records are extremely

serious violations because they thwart the Secretary of Agriculture’s ability to

carry out the purposes of the Animal Welfare Act.

Mitchell, 60 Agric. Dec. 91, 129 (U.S.D.A. 2001). Thus, the ALJ should have found
Respondents’ September 28, 2012 violation both serious and willful and imposed appropriate
sanctions therefor. Accordingly, I reject the ALJ’s conclusion that “[n]o sanction need be
imposed for the one technical violation of the Act, on September 8, 2012 (access to facilities), to
116

promote the Act’s remedial purposes.

2. Violations of Access and Itinerary Regulations (August 2, 2010 and
November 14, 2015 to November 19, 2015)

Although they concede the ALJ correctly found violations on August 2, 2010 (failing to

provide access)'!” and on November 14, 2015 to November 19, 2015 (failing to submit an

113 See Perry, AWA Docket No. 05-0026, 2013 WL 8213618, at *5 (U.S.D.A. 2013) (“Dr.
Bellin’s and Mr. Watson’s availability to conduct the inspection at a later date . .. does not
excuse Mr. Perry and PWR from their failure to allow inspection.”).

114 See IDO at 46, 67.

S White, 73 Agric. Dec. 114, 118 (U.S.D.A. 2014).
H6 DO at 67 9 8.

179 CF.R. §2.126(a)

28



itinerary),''® Respondents assert the ALJ erred by finding that the violations were willful.!*
Respondents do not, however, offer any explanation or support for their argument. Therefore, I
reject Respondents’ contention that the violations found on August 2, 2010 and on November 14,
2015 to November 19, 2015 were not willful.
C. Additional Violations Not Recognized by the ALJ

The record reflects that the ALJ also utilized a flawed analysis to reject several other
violations in their entirety.'?® For the reasons discussed more fully herein below, I concur with
Complainant’s contention that the ALIJ’s failure to affirm these “remaining” violations was
error, 12!

1. Respondents Violated the Ttinerary Regulation on May 13, 2015.

The 2016 Complaint alleges that “[o]n or about May 13, 2015, respondents willfully
violated the Regulations by exhibiting animals at a location other than respondents’ facility, and
housing those animals overnight at that location, without having timely submitted a complete and

accurate itinerary to APHIS. 9 C.F.R. § 2.126(c).”!#?

1189 CF.R. § 2.126(c).

119 Response at 2, 3. Complainant would certainly disagree and challenge Respondents’
interpretation of “willfulness.”

120 See Appeal at 50-51.
121 1d. at 29.

1222016 Complaint at 5 9 9. See 9 C.F.R. § 2.126(c) (“(““Any person who is subject to the Animal
Welfare regulations and who intends to exhibit any animal at any location other than the person’s
approved site . . . shall submit a written itinerary to the AC Regional Director. The itinerary shall
be received no later than 2 days in advance of any travel and shall contain complete and accurate
information concerning the whereabouts of any animal intended for exhibition at any location
other than the person’s approved site. . . .”).
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Complainant established that: (1) according to Respondents® March 18, 2015 itinerary, all
of Respondents’ animals would be at Respondents’ facility by April 2015;'?* and (2) on May 13,
2015, Animal Care Inspector (“ACI”) Donovan Fox and Veterinary Medical Officer (“VMO?)
Cynthia DiGesualdo conducted a routine inspection at Respondents’ facility, whereupon they
found that two groups of tigers were not present but instead were off-site performing at
Respondents’ traveling exhibition.'** While Respondents insist that “Mr. Terranova submitted an
itinerary prior to May 13, 2015 via email,” Respondents produced no such email or any other
documentary evidence of an itinerary submission after March 18, 2015.'25 Mr. Terranova’s
testimony was the only evidence Respondents offered to support their claim that they emailed an
itinerary to APHIS.
The ALJ’s finding of no violation of the itinerary Regulation on May 13, 2015 appears to
be based upon Mr. Terranova’s testimony that he submitted an itinerary prior to May 13, 2015
via email, which the ALJ apparently credited because Mr. Terranova admitted to not submitting
an itinerary in November 2015:
Respondents contend that Mr. Terranova submitted an itinerary prior to
May 13, 2015, via e-mail but he could not find a copy, Tr. 738-739; RX 1; CX 23.
Respondents’ Opposition Brief at 2. Respondents additionally assert:
Terranova did not submit an itinerary for his traveling tigers at the
time of the November 2015 inspection. In May, the inspectors
came when he was not home and cited him for eight violations,
which Terranova believed to be outright lies, and were verball
abusive to his employee. In subsequent discussions with‘
Terranova got the strong impression that they were waiting until he
was gone before they conducted another inspection. Tr. 492-493.

He therefore did not fill out another itinerary in hopes that the
inspectors would catch him at home so [] he could do the

123 See CX-19 at 1; Tr. 607-08; CX-23.
124 Soe Tr. 608.
125 See 1IDO at 32, 60; Tr. 609-10, 740-41.
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inspection. Tr. 493. As it happened, Terranova was correct. He left
on the 18" for San Antonio and inspectors showed up on the 19%.
Tr. 493.

Respondents’ Opposition Brief at 2-3 (footnote omitted).

Although Mr. Terranova could not produce a copy of the itinerary he

provided regarding the May 13, 2015, travel, his testimony is credited,

particularly in light of his admission that he did not provide an itinerary in

November. Accordingly, the May 13, 2015, itinerary violation is not established.
Initial Decision at 31-32 (emphasis added). The ALJ does not explain how Mr. Terranova’s
conceding later violations of the same Regulation justifies a finding that Respondents did not
violate the Regulation on May 13, 2015. Further, even assuming arguendo that Mr. Terranova’s
testimony regarding the email is credited, it is insufficient to rebut the prima facie showing of a
violation established by Complainant on this record.

It is well established that Complainant has the burden of proof in this proceeding.'?® The
standard of proof by which the burden is met in an administrative proceeding conducted under
the Animal Welfare Act is preponderance of the evidence.'?” In meeting its burden of proof,

Complainant bears the initial burden of coming forward with evidence sufficient for a prima

facie case.!?® Complainant established that: (1) according to Respondents’ March 18, 2015

126 51U.S.C. § 556(d); see JSG Trading Corp., 57 Agric. Dec. 640, 709 (U.S.D.A. 1998); Big
Bear Farm, Inc., 55 Agric. Dec. 107, 109 n.3 (U.S.D.A. March 15, 1996).

127 Davenport, 57 Agric. Dec. 189, 223 (U.S.D.A. 1998) (“The burden of proof in disciplinary
proceedings under the Animal Welfare Act is preponderance of the evidence, which is all that is
required for the violations alleged in the Complaint.”).

128 See JSG Trading Corp., 57 Agric. Dec. 710, 721-22 (U.S.D.A. 1998) (Order Den. Pet. for
Recons. as to JSG Trading Corp.); see also Hazardous Waste Treatment Council v. EPA, 886
F.2d 355, 266 (D.C. Cir. 1989), cert. denied sub nom. Am. Petroleum Inst. v. EPA, 498 U.S. 849
(1990); Bosma v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., 754 F.2d 804, 810 (9th Cir. 1984); NLRB v. Mastro
Plastics Corp., 354 F.2d 170, 176 (2d Cir. 1965), cert. denied, 384 U.S. 972 (1966); see also
ATTORNEY GENERAL’S MANUAL ON THE ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE ACT 75 (1947) (“There is
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itinerary, all of Respondents’ animals would be at Respondents’ facility by April 2015;'% and (2)

on May 13, 2015, Animal Care Inspector (“ACI”) -nd Veterinary Medical Officer

(“VMO”)_conducted a routine inspection at Respondents’ facility,

whereupon they found that two groups of tigers were not present but instead were off-site
performing at Respondents’ traveling exhibition.'° This evidence of record esta‘blished a prima
facie violation of the itinerary Regulation on May 13, 2015.

The burden of production then shiffed to Respondents to rebut Complainant’s prima facie
showing.!?! Shifting burdens of production are necessary tools in developing a full and complete
record and in assessing the weight to assign evidence where, as here, there is a “failure to act”
element of the violation.'*? The legislative history of APA section 7(c) (5 U.S.C. § 556(d))
explains:

That the proponent of a rule or order has the burden of proof means not only that

the party initiating the proceeding has the general burden of coming forward with

a prima facie case but that other parties, who are proponents of some different
result, also for that purpose have a burden to maintain. Similarly the requirement

some indication that the term ‘burden of proof” was not employed in any strict sense, but rather
as synonymous with the ‘burden going forward’”); 3 KeNNETH C. DAVIS, ADMIN. LAW TREATISE
§ 16:9 (1980 & Supp. 1989) (the burden allocated by the Administrative Procedure Act is the
burden of going forward and not the ultimate burden of persuasion).

129 See CX-19 at 1; Tr. 607-08; CX-23.
130 See Tr. 608.

Bl See Colette, 68 Agric. Dec. 768, 783 (U.S.D.A. 2009) (Decision and Order as to Martine
Colette and Robert H. Lorsch); Tollefson, 54 Agric. Dec. 426, 433 (U.S.D.A. 1995); see also
Garvey v. Nat’l Tr. Safety Bd., 190 F.3d 571, 579-80 (D.C. Cir. 1999).

132 See Campbell v. United States, 365 U.S. 85, 96 (1961) (“[T]he ordinary rule, based on
considerations of fairness, does not place the burden upon a litigant of establishing facts
peculiarly within the knowledge of his adversary.”) (citing United States v. New York, N.H. &
H.R. Co.,355U.S. 253,256 n.5 (1957)); Saylor, 44 Agric. Dec. 2238, 2672-73 (U.S.D.A. 1985)
(“The facts concerning the size and effect on the violator’s business are ‘facts peculiarly within
the knowledge of” the violator[.]”) (“[ A]s the Attorney General’s Manual states, . . . under APA
section 7(c), an agency is permitted . . . to draw such inferences or presumptions as the courts
customarily employ, such as the failure to explain by a party in exclusive possession of the facts,
or the presumption of continuance of a state of facts once shown to exist.”).
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that no sanction be imposed or rule or order be issued except upon evidence of the
kind specified means that the proponents of a denial of relief must sustain such
denial by that kind of evidence. . . .

S. REP. NoO. 752, 79th Cong,., 1st Sess., 22 (1945).133
While Respondents insist that “Mr. Terranova submitted an itinerary prior to May 13,

2015 via email,” Respondents produced no such email or any other documentary evidence of an
itinerary submission after March 18, 2015.** Nor could Mr. Terranova identify the alleged
recipient thereof.'**> Accordingly, based on the evidence of record, Respondents have failed to
rebut Complainant’s prima facie showing of the violation of the itinerary Regulation on May 12,

2015; therefore, the violation is affirmed.

2. Respondents Violated Section 2.131(b)(1) of the Handling Regulations on April 20,
2013. '

The 2015 Complaint alleges:

On or about April 20, 2013, respondents willfully violated the Regulations
(1) by failing to handle an animal as carefully as possible in a manner that would
not cause physical harm or unnecessary discomfort, (2) by failing, during public
exhibition, to handle an animal with sufficient distance and/or barriers between
the animal and the public, so as to ensure the safety of the animal and the public,
and (3) by failing, during public exhibition, to have a dangerous animal under the
direct control and supervision of a knowledgeable and experienced animal

133 See also 2 4 J. STEIN, G. MITCHELL, & B. MEZINES, ADMINISTRATIVE LAW § 24.02 at 4-25
(1994) (“The legislative history of the A.P.A. burden of proof provision states that the party
initiating the proceeding has, at a minimum, the burden of establishing a prima facie case, but a
burden of proof may also rest on other parties seeking a different decision by the agency.”); see
also Dir., Office of Workers’ Comp. Programs, Dep’t of Labor v. Greenwich Collieries, 512 U.S.
267,280 (1994) ( Almy v. Sebelius, 679 F.3d 297, 305 (4th Cir. 2012) (“[ W]hen the party with the
burden of persuasion establishes a prima facie case supported by ‘credible and credited evidence,’
it must either be rebutted or accepted as true.”); see, e.g., Colette, 68 Agric. Dec. 768, 783
(U.S.D.A. 2009). (“The evidence presented by the Administrator meets the burden of proof
allowing me to conclude the Administrator proved his prima facie case. However, proving the
prima facie case only shifts the burden, allowing Ms. Colette to rebut the Administrator’s case.
Ms. Colette contends the llamas were not “regulated” animals without presenting any legal or
factual support for her theory. Therefore, Ms. Colette failed to overcome the prima facie case.”).

134 See IDO at 32, 60; Tr. 609-10, 740-41.
135 See Tr. 740-41; Prehearing Brief at 3.
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handler, and specifically, respondents exhibited a tiger (Leah) in a circus in

Salina, Kansas, and upon the conclusion of the performance, the tiger was not

secured in an enclosure, but was loose and out of respondents’ control and

supervision in the performance area, and thereafter entered the women’s restroom

in the public concourse area. 9 C.F.R. §§ 2.131(b)(1), 2.131(c)(1), 2.131(d)(3).
2015 Complaint at 5 § 8. I find that the record supports this allegation, particularly when the
evidence relating to this violation is read in conjunction with the evidence supporting the other
April 20, 2013 violations.'3®

The Regulations require that the “[h]andling of all animals shall be done as expeditiously
and carefully as possible in a manner that does not cause trauma, overheating, excessive cooling,
behavioral stress, physical harm, or unnecessary discomfort.”'*” The Regulations define
“handling” as “petting, feeding, watering, cleaning, manipulating, loading, crating, shifting,
transferring, immobilizing, restraining, treating, training, working, and moving, or any similar
activity with respect to any animal.”!3®

Here, the ALJ found that “Complainant ha[d] not established that Respondents violated 9

C.F.R. § 2.131(b)(1)” because “[t]he tiger suffered no trauma™'*’ an- the spectator

who encountered the tiger in the restroom, “was not injured.”'*? The Initial Decision further

states:

The evidence did not show that Complainant established that Respondents
failed to handle their tigers “as expeditiously and carefully as possible in a
manner that does not cause trauma, overheating, excessive cooling, behavioral
stress, physical harm, or unnecessary discomfort.” The tiger did not exhibit signs
of trauma, overheating, excessive cooling, behavioral stress, physical harm, or
unnecessary discomfort that were documented in the record. Accordingly,

136 See IDO at 15-16, 52-56.
1379 C.F.R. § 2.131(b)(1).
B89 CFR.§1.

139 1DO at 14.

140 14 at 13.
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Complainant has not established that Respondents violated 9 C.F.R. §
2.131(b)(1).

Initial Decision at 15. However, the evidence that the ALJ found proved violations of both
sections 2.131(c)(1) (9 C.F.R. § 2.131(b)(1)) and 2.131(d)(3) (9 C.F.R. § 2.131(d)(3)), which
related to the exact incident in question, clearly shows careless handling of tigers by
Respondents.'#!

The preponderance of the evidence demonstrates that Respondents failed to exercise
sufficient care when assigning particular employees to handle the tigers.'4? That the tiger, Leah,
was able to get loose indicates serious problems or, at minimum, confusion among employees.
Such a lapse reflects failure to handle the animal as carefully as possible to prevent harm, injury,
or distress. Certainly, a tiger who escaped its cage, roamed through the concourse of a circus
arena, entered a public restroom, and walked toward an individual in the restroom could have
caused harm to that individual or other members of the public.** This dangerous situation was

the direct result of Respondents’ failing to handle the tiger as carefully as possible.'* Under the

facts accepted by the ALJ in the Initial Decision, Respondents handled tigers in a manner that

14 See id. at 15-16.

42 See id. at 16 (“Respondents were previously warned about the consequences of not having
sufficient trained personnel and willfully proceeded with the exhibition without a sufficient
number or sufficiently trained staft.”).

43 See supra note 92; IDO at 14 (stating that “[t]he tiger entered the concourse area, where food
stands and restrooms are located, and entered the women’s restroom”) (citing CX-8, video 3)
(empbhasis added); supra note 92.

144 See, e.g., Vergis, 55 Agric. Dec. 148, 165 (U.S.D.A. 1996) (“Respondent’s violation was
extremely serious and resulted in the very harm that compliance with the regulation is designed
to prevent. The record clearly demonstrates that Respondent failed to handle . . . a 450-pound
male Bengal tiger, so that there was minimal risk of harm to [the tiger] and to members of the
public, in willful violation of 9 C.F.R. § 2.131(b)(1). Respondent’s violation was the direct cause
of the severe injuries, including a broken leg and numerous lacerations and puncture wounds,
suffered by [a member of the viewing public][.]”).
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placed the tigers at risk of “trauma, . . . behavioral stress, physical harm, or unnecessary
discomfort.”!4?

Furthermore, injury to the animal or to the public is not an element required to prove a
handling violation; rather, it can be a consequence of a handling violation.'*® The purpose of the
Regulation is to prevent “trauma, overheating, excessive cooling, behavioral stress, physical
harm, or unnecessary discomfort” as a result of mishandling;'*” indeed, the Judicial Officer has
held that Complainant need not establish that an animal actually sustained “trauma, overheating,
excessive cooling, behavioral stress, physical harm, or unnecessary discomfort” to prove the
violation.'*® That that no tiger or human was ultimately injured is not dispositive of whether a

violation occurred. '

1459 C.F.R. § 2.131(b)(1). See IDO at 15-16 (stating that although “Respondents knew or should
have known who was working with the tigers,” they nevertheless allowed someone who was
_clearly “not qualified to work with tigers” handle tigers inside “an arena filled with spectators™)
(stating that the tiger Leah “was not under the direct control and supervision while loose in the
arena and on the concourse”), 52-56 (Findings of Fact 29-55).

146 See supra notes 71, 72, and accompanying text; Vergis, 55 Agric. Dec. 148, 165 (U.S.D.A.
1996) (stating that where a tiger escaped, injured a member of the viewing public by biting the
person’s leg, and was “harmed” from being “repeatedly struck with hard objects, often on the
head” and having a “broom handle inserted into” its mouth, the exhibitor’s “violation was
extremely serious and resulted in the very harm that compliance with the regulation is designed

to prevent.”).

1479 CFR. § 2.131(b)(1); see Lang, 57 Agric. Dec. 59, 83 (U.S.D.A. 1998) (“While one of the
purposes of section 2.131(a)(1) of the Regulations (9 C.F.R. § 2.131(a)(1)) is to prevent death,
the regulatory provision is explicitly designed to prevent trauma, overheating, excessive cooling,
behavioral stress, physical harm, and even unnecessary discomfort to animals.”) (emphasis

added).

148 See Lang, 57 Agric. Dec. 91, 107 (U.S.D.A. 1998) (Order Den. Pet. for Recons.) (stating that
“death is not an element that must be proven to prove a violation of section [2.131(b)(1)] of the
Regulations”).

199 See Lang, 57 Agric. Dec. 59, 82 (U.S.D.A. 1998) (“An action is willful under the
Administrative Procedure Act if a prohibited act is done intentionally, irrespective of evil intent,
or done with careless disregard of statutory requirements. Therefore, the fact that Respondent did
not ‘intentionally cause harm to the [animal] . . . would not prevent a finding . . . that Respondent
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Accordingly, I agree with Complainant’s contention that the evidence the ALJ found to
have proved violations of sections 2.131(c)(1)!*® and 2.131(d)(3)"3! of the Regulations sufficed
to support a finding that Respondents also violated section 2.131(b)(1)."%2 Accordingly, I
conclude that Respondents willfully violated section 2.131(b)(1) the Regulations (9 C.F.R. §
2.131(b)(1)) on April 20, 2013 by failing to handle tigers as carefully as possible in a manner
that would not cause physical harm or unnecessary discomfort.

3. Respondents Violated the Veterinary Care Regulations Between February 11, 2015
and May 13, 2015.

The 2016 Complaint alleges that during the period of February 11, 2015 and May 13,
2015, “[R]espondents willfully violated the Regulations by failing to employ an attending
veterinarian under formal arrangements that included a written program of veterinary care, and
specifically, [R]espondents’ written program of veterinary care was incomplete with respect to

vaccinations of [R]espondents’ animals. 9 C.F.R. § 2.40(a)(1).”'>* Complainant asserts that

intentionally, or with careless disregard of statutory requirements, failed to handle the animal as
expeditiously and carefully as possible in a manner that does not cause trauma, behavioral stress,
physical harm, and unnecessary discomfort, in violation of section 2.131(a) of the Regulations (9
C.F.R. § 2.131(a)(1).”) (current section 2.131(b)(1) was previously numbered as section
2.131(a)(1)); Vergis, 55 Agric. Dec. at 161 (“Although this caused no reported trauma to the
animal, Mr. Vergis must be sanctioned upon his failure to protect both the animal and the
public.”).

1309 C.F.R. § 2.131(c)(1) (“During public exhibition, any animal must be handled so there is
minimal risk of harm to the animal and to the public, with sufficient distance and/or barriers
between the animal and the general viewing public so as to assure the safety of the animals and
the public.”).

519 C.F.R. §2.131(d)(3) (“During public exhibition, dangerous animals such as lions, tigers,
wolves, bears, or elephants must be under the direct control and supervision of a knowledgeable
and experienced animal handler.”).

1529 C.F.R. § 2.131(b)(1) (“Handling of all animals shall be done as expeditiously and carefully
as possible in a manner that does not cause trauma, overheating, excessive cooling, behavioral
stress, physical harm, or unnecessary discomfort.”).

1332016 Complaint at 5§ 7.
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during a compliance inspection on May 13, 2015, Respondents produced a program of veterinary
care (“PVC”) “that did not set forth a vaccination schedule for dogs in Respondents’ custody”
and that Respondents were “unable to locate an original or complete PVC.”"* In her Initial
Decision, however, the ALJ found that “Respondents at all times had a program of veterinary
care” and that “[t]he evidence shows that Respondents had a complete program of veterinary
care on-site.”'* I reverse the ALJ’s finding and conclude that Complainant proved the violation
by a preponderance of the evidence.

With regard to veterinary care, the Regulations provide that “[e]ach dealer or exhibitor
shall have an attending veterinarian who shall provide adequate veterinary care to its animals”!%
and “[e]ach dealer and exhibitor shall employ an attending veterinarian under formal
arrangements. In the case of a part-time attending veterinarian or consultant arrangements, the
formal arrangements shall include a written program of veterinary care and regularly scheduled
visits to the premises of the dealer or exhibitor.”'*” Complainant’s evidence comprised the May

t;158

13, 2015 inspection report; °° a photograph of the PVC provided by Respondents’ authorized

person_59 and the testimony of ACI-nd VM(- who testified

that that the written program presented for inspection — a photocopy of the original — was

missing a portion of the section regarding vaccinations.'®’

134 Complainant’s Brief at 9.
155 IDO at 30.

1569 C.F.R. § 2.40(a).

1579 C.F.R. § 2.40(a)(1).

158 CX-19.

159 ¢X-20.

160 See Ty, 576, 580, 647 (Testimony of- Tr. 684-87 (Testimony of VMO |
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Despite acknowledging that “the document provided to the inspectors . . . did not contain
the entirety of Section IL.A.,” the ALJ found no violation, stating that “it is undisputed that
[Respondents’ dogs ha[d] been vaccinated” and “should have been immediately obvious that this
was a photocopying error which could have been resolved if the inspectors had inquired
further.”'®" However, while it might have appeared that there was just a problem with the copy of
the PVC presented to the inspectors,'®? Ms-Nas unable to locate the original PVC or
another copy of a complete PVC.'%3 Because the PVC provided did not show the vaccination
information, “the inspectors could only assume that[] ‘[t|he dogs didn’t have the shots since
there was nothing given to [the inspectors] that said they did.”'%

The failure to maintain an accurate PVC and to make the PVC available to APHIS
constitutes a violation of the veterinary care Regulations.'®® That Respondents’ on-site copy of

its PVC was a miscopied version of the original does not obviate the violation and does not make

it incumbent on the inspectors to demand or search for another, better version.'*® “[T]he Animal

1 1DO at 30. “Section I1.A. of the PVC form contains a space for the schedule and frequency of
vaccinations for dogs and cats.” /d. at 29.

162 The PVC presented to the inspectors was described as the current PC. See Tr. 576.
' Id. at 737-38.

164 Tr. 686; see Tr. 684-85, 686-87 (“In the way that we look at things, if it’s not documents on
that program of veterinary care, then it hasn’t occurred. And that’s explained to all the
licensees.”).

165 See Tri-State Zoological Park of W. Md. Inc., 72 Agric. Dec. 128, 158 (U.S.D.A. 2013);
Pearson, 68 Agric. Dec. 685, 698 (U.S.D.A. 2009) (“Dr. Smith testified that the program of
veterinary care he was given to review, did not include the 14 bears and did not mention that the
bears were receiving a heartworm preventative that bears housed outdoors need.”).

166 See Parr, 59 Agric. Dec. 601, 616 (U.S.D.A. 2000) (“[TThe Animal and Plant Health
Inspection Service’s ability to ensure that each exhibitor establishes and maintains a written
program of veterinary care would be thwarted if each exhibitor was allowed to keep his or her
written program of veterinary care in a location at which the program was not readily available to
Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service officials during inspection.”).
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and Plant Health Inspection Service has the right to see records at an unannounced inspection to
assure that records have not been changed to conform with the Regulations.”'” Thus,
Respondents’ argument that APHIS inspectors issued the violation citation for merely “a simple
photocopying error” is without merit.3

Further, the ALJ also states:

This photocopying error is nothing like the violations found in n re Tri-
State Zoological Park of Western Maryland, Inc., AWA Docket No. 11-0222,
2013 WL 8214620 (2013) (refusal to keep records on-site) or In re Lorenza
Pearson, d/b/a L & L Exotic Animal Farm, 68 Agric. Dec. 685, 698 (2009)
(program of veterinary care did not include multiple animals). The evidence
shows that Respondents had a complete written program of veterinary care on-
site. Accordingly, Complainant has not established this violation.

Initial Decision at 30. I reject this conclusion for two reasons.

First, the ALJ misconstrued the facts of Tri-State'®® when comparing it to the instant case,
effectively downplaying the seriousness of violations at issue. Tri-State'’® did not involve a
“refusal to keep records on-site” but “resistance” toward doing so based on the particular
circumstances:

On June 2, 2008, and September 3, 2008, Tri-State and Mr. Candy failed
to provide Dr. McFadden with a copy of a written program of veterinary care. As
a result, Dr. McFadden was unable to determine whether Tri-State and Mr. Candy
had a veterinarian on call or had developed a plan for care. Mr. Candy testified
that he has no place to keep his records on site since Tri-State lost a building in a
fire. He is reluctant to keep records in a gift shop or any other builsding open to
the public. However, he is aware that Dr. McFadden generally spends two days
inspecting the Tri-State facility, and he consistently provides her with all the
records, including plans of veterinary care and enrichment for nonhuman
primates, on the morning of the second day of Dr. McFadden’s inspection.

167 Tyi-State Zoological Park, 72 Agric. Dec. at 159 (citing S.S. Farms Linn Cty., Inc., 50 Agric.
Dec. 476, 489 (U.S.D.A. 1991)).

168 Response at 8.
169 Tyi-State Zoological Park of W. Md., Inc., 72 Agric. Dec. 128 (U.S.D.A. 2013).
170 Id
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When pressed to explain why he could not maintain the records in the

place where he keeps check lists, Mr. Candy testified that he did not think it was

appropriate to keep the records in that location, which is a kitchen that stores

animal feed. He distinguished those records from the logs, which are used daily.

Despite being cited for repeated violations, he never failed to provide the records.
Tri-State Zoological Park of Western Maryland, Inc., 72 Agric. Dec. 128, 158-59 (U.S.D.A.
2013) (emphasis added) (internal citations to record omitted). As stated in Pearson, “[e]ach
Animal Welfare Act licensee must always be in compliance in all respects with the Animal
Welfare Act and the Regulations.”!”! A photocopying error, then, does not excuse Respondents’
failure to have a complete PVC on site.

Second, nothing in the Act, Regulations, or case law requires that the violations in one
case must parallel those in another to affirm a violation. Indeed, “case-by-case determinations
are the hallmark of administrative and judicial adjudications|.]”!” I therefore conclude that
Respondents’ failure to provide APHIS with a complete, written PVC constitutes a violation of

section 2.40(2)(1) (9 C.F.R. § 2.40(a)(1)).

4. Respondents Violated the Handling Regulations on March 10, 2011,

The 2015 Complaint alleges that on March 10, 2011, Respondents violated the handling
Regulations by failing to handle tigers as carefully as possible and by failing, during public
exhibition, to handle tigers with sufficient distance and/or barriers between the animals and the
public so as to ensure the safety of the tigers and the public.!”® The 2015 Complaint also alleges

that the tiger enclosure was in disrepair, that the tiger enclosure did not comply with the

71 Pearson, 68 Agric. Dec. 685, 735 (U.S.D.A. 2009) (emphasis added), aff’d sub nom. Pearson
v. United States, 711 F. App’x 866 (6th Cir. 2011).

172 Koretoff v. Vilsack, 614 F.3d 532, 543 n.3 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (Henderson, J., dissenting in part).
183 See Complaint at 5-6 8.
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Standards, and that the tigers were housed in enclosures that did not provide sufficient space.'”

i Handling and Structural Strength

Congress intended for the exhibition of animals to be accomplished in a manner that is
safe for both animals and humans.'” The handling Regulations require exhibitors, such as
Respondents, to handle animals carefully and safely for the protection of both the animals and
the public.!”® To that end, the Standards provide that animals shall be housed in enclosures that
are structurally sound and maintained in good repair.'””

The 2015 Complaint alleges that on March 10, 2011, Respondents failed to meet the
minimum Standards with respect to structural strength and containment; specifically, the
Complaint alleges that Respondents’ exhibit and exercise enclosure was inadequate.'”® For the
reasons more fully discussed below, I conclude that on March 10, 2011 Resbondents failed to
meet the minimum Standards with respect to structural strength and containment.

Section 3.125(a) of the Standards (9 C.F.R. § 3.125(a)) provides:

The facility must be constructed of such material and of such strength as

appropriate for the animals involved. The indoor and outdoor housing facilities

shall be structurally sound and shall be maintained in good repair to protect the

animals from injury and to contain the animals.

9 C.F.R. § 3.125(a). The record shows that Respondents’ facility — specifically, Respondents’

performance and exercise arena for tigers — was inadequate in three respects.

First, the cables that held the enclosure together were in disrepair.!” ACI-

174 See id. at 6 9 9a-b.

175 See 7 U.S.C. § 2131; Haviland v. Bufz, 543 F.2d 169, 173 (D.C. Cir. 1976).
176 See 9 C.F.R. § 2.131.

177 See 9 C.F.R. § 3.125(a).

178 See 2015 Complaint at 6  9a.

179 See Tr. 103-04, 106, 112-13, 114-15.

42



identified and photographed numerous areas where the wires were loose or had become detached
completely, leaving sizable gaps.'® The disrepair of the wires meant that the enclosure was not
structurally sound and represented an inadequate barrier between the tigers and the public.'®!
APHIS’ Big Cat Specialist, Dr.- testified that tigers are “very powerful,”
opportunistic predators who “can take fairly large prey down because of their physical
strength.”'®? That no injuries were reported is irrelevant to whether Respondents maintained the
enclosure in good repair.'®?

Moreover, Respondent Terranova, himself, admitted the tiger enclosure was in
disrepair.'® The AL erred in failing to acknowledge this admission. In addition, the ALJ erred
by crediting Respondents’ statements that the enclosure cables were corrected.'®® It is well
established that the subsequent correction of a violation does not negate that the violation
occurred.'® As the previous Judicial Officer has explained:

[ElJach . .. exhibitor. .. must always be in compliance in all respects with the

Regulations in 9 C.F.R. Part 2 and the Standards in 9 C.F.R. Part 3. (9 C.F.R. §

2.100(a)). This duty exists regardless of a “correction date” suggested by an

APHIS inspector who notes the existence of a violation. While corrections are to

be encouraged and may be taken into account when determining the sanction to

be imposed, even the immediate correction of a violation docs not operate to
eliminate the fact a violation occurred and does not provide a basis for the

180 CcX-4,

181 ACI Bonguard testified that the disrepair could allow a tiger to extend its paw or head through
the enclosure or to break through the arena. Tr. 114-18, 119, 139.

182 14 at 167.
183 See IDO at 21-22.

184 See Tr. 103-04, 106, 112-13, 114-15; Respondents’ Verified Motion in Opposition to Motion
for Summary Judgment at 6.

185 1DO at 21.

186 See, e.g., Parr, 59 at 624 (“It is well settled that a correction of a violation of the Animal
Welfare Act or the Regulations and Standards does not eliminate the fact that the violation
occurred.”); see also Drogosch, 63 Agric. Dec. 623, 644 n.5 (U.S.D.A. 2004).
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dismissal of the alleged violation.

Volpe Vito, Inc., 56 Agric. Dec. 166, 254 (U.S.D.A. 1997) (emphasis added) (citing Big Bear
Farm, Inc., 55 Agric. Dec. 107, 142 (U.S.D.A. 1996); Pet Paradise, Inc., 51 Agric. Dec. 1047,
1070 (U.S.D.A. 1992)).

Second, the presence of pedestals inside the tigers” enclosure reduced the height of the
structure. The evidence shows that Respondents exhibited six tigers in a twelve-foot-high
circular wire enclosure that had multiple thirty-one-inch pedestals within it.'®” The height and
location of the pedestals effectively reduced the height of the enclosure itself and offered the
tigers a potential means to escape the enclosure.'®®

Third, the top of the enclosure was exposed, and the lack of a “kick-in" or roof did not
ensure that the tigers could be contained.'®’ Dr-estiﬁed that having a kick-in at the top of
" an enclosure helps prevent the tiger from going up and over the top of the fencing. “[A] 12-foot
enclosure with no kick-in is not going to contain a tiger whether there are platforms there or not.
If the tiger wants to get out, it will get out of that.”!®

Furthermore, I find that Respondents’ use of the inadequately repaired tiger enclosure
presented a danger to the animals” well-being and safety. Given the obvious risks presented by
animals as large, swift, strong, and predatory as tigers, Respondents should have known that their

exhibit — which not only failed to have a kick-in or roof but also had cables that were in disrepair

and pedestals that reduced the height of the enclosure — was unsafe. Accordingly, I reject the

187 CX-4.

188 Id ; CX-5; CX-6; CX-14 at 3. ACI Bonguard testified that “because tigers can jump out at
nine feet without even trying,” there was a potential for escape. Tr. 119.

189 CX-4.

190 Tr, 177 (Testimony of Dr. -
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ALJ’s conclusion that “[t]he evidence is not sufficient to find that the tiger cages were not
structurally sound or maintained in good repair to protect the animals from injury and to contain
the animals.”!’!

i, Space
The 2015 Complaint alleges that on March 10, 2011, Respondents failed to meet the

192 Specifically, the Complaint

minimum Standards with respect to space requirements for tigers.
alleges that Respondents used transport cages as primary enclosures and that those cages were
too small for the tigers housed in them.!*

The ALJ found no violation, in part because she argued that the applicable Regulation is
section 3.137(c) (9 C.F.R. § 3.137(c)).

The agency cited Respondents for violating the rule governing space
requirements for facilities, which requires that enclosures allow animals to “make
normal postural and social adjustments with adequate freedom of movement.” 9
C.F.R. § 3.128 These were transport cages, however, and the applicable rule
governing transport cages states that animals must have enough space merely “to
turn about freely and to make normal postural adjustments.” 9 C.F.R. § 3.137(c).

Initial Decision at 23. The ALJ concluded that “[t]he evidence does not establish that the
transport cages were too small for the tigers to turn freely and to make normal postural
adjustments or to make normal postural and social adjustments with adequate freedom of

movement.”!* The ALJ reasoned, “[t]here was no evidence of contorting such as wear marks or

health issues. The tigers were exercised out of the transport cages every day and the transport

BLIDO at 21.
192 See 2015 Complaint at 6 § 9b.

193 See id (“Respondents utilized transport enclosures as primary enclosures for six tigers, and
the enclosures did not offer the tigers the sufficient space to make normal postural and social
adjustments.”) (citing 9 C.F.R. § 3.128).

9 1DO at 23.
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cages were used to transport for shows.”'%

Twenty years ago, however, the previous Judicial Officer held that when a “transport”
enclosure is used as a primary enclosure, it must meet the Standard in 9 C.F.R. § 3.128.

[W]hen animals are transported to a new or “temporary” facility, they may only
be housed in so-called “transport cages” for a reasonable time. After such
reasonable time, which will be determined on a case-by-case basis, the space
requirement standards (9 C.F.R. § 3.128) will be applied to the “transport”
enclosures, which actually have become the primary spacing holding such
animals, regardless of whether the primary enclosures could also be called
“transport cages.”

At some point, it is not reasonable to consider what are really stationary
housing facilities to be “transport” or “travel” facilities, merely because the
facilities were at one time mobile, and could be mobile again. The animals require
a certain amount of space for health reasons. A short time of close confinement in
transport cages is not often deleterious to their health — hence the transport cage
exception (9 C.F.R. § 3.137) to the space requirement standards (9 C.F.R. §
3.128).

However, it takes no great analytical skill to determine that unscrupulous
operators could maintain animals in an artificially-constant “travel” status, in very
small “transport cages,” to the greater detriment on the health of the animals. This
has happened here. Pending clarifying standards, on a case-by-case, reasonable
basis, travelling apparatuses, 1.e., “transport cages,” which are reasonably shown
to be used as primary housing, shall be regulated under the space requirement
standards in 9 C.F.R. § 3.128.

Berosini, 54 Agric. Dec. 886, 918 (U.S.D.A. 1995). The evidence in this case shows that
Respondents used “transport” enclosures as primary enclosures for their tigers. ACI -
testified to that;'* her inspection report specifically states: “The transport enclosures are used

as(at) the primary enclosures for the 6 tigers.”'”” Therefore, the ALJ should have applied section

3.128 (9 C.F.R. § 3.128) of the Standards.

195 Id
196 See Tr. 110-11.
Y7 CX-4at 1.
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I find that Respondents’ tiger enclosures failed to meet the requirements of section 3.128
(9 C.F.R. § 3.128). Section 3.128 provides:

Enclosures shall be constructed and maintained so as to provide sufficient space
to allow each animal to make normal postural and social adjustments with
adequate freedom of movement. Inadequate space may be indicated by evidence
of malnutrition, poor condition, debility, stress, or abnormal behavior patterns.

9 C.F.R. § 3.128. Here, ACI-noted in her inspection report:

The measurement on the enclosures is 7 feet by 3 inches in length, 43 inches in
width, and 4 feet in height. The enclosures do not expand in any way to allow
proper space for normal postural and social adjustments. At 43 inches in width the
enclosures do not allow the tigers to turn around using normal postural
movements.

CX-4at 1. ACI- contemporaneous photographs corroborate her finding of
noncompliance.!?®
When determining whether enclosures are adequate, exhibitors must consider the size of

the animal to be housed therein.!” At the hearing, ACI -testiﬁcd that the tigers were

5200

“full-size, full-grown adult tigers”“"" and that the transport cages were too small:

[TTn my opinion, there’s no way that tiger could lay the width of that primary
enclosure because it’s too big. And even just to turn around in that enclosure,
they, you know, kind of have to contort a little bit to turn, make a full turn in the
enclosure.

Tr. 109. Dr. -01‘1'oborated ACI -fmdings. She observed from the photographs

that the cages “look very narrow” for the tigers housed inside.?®! Looking at Complainant’s

198 1d. at 27-32.

199 See Davenport, 57 Agric. Dec. 189, 210-11 (U.S.D.A. 1998); see also Pearson, 68 Agric.
Dec. at 693.

200 T, 108.
200 14 at 160.
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Exhibit 4,22 Dr. -estiﬁed that “if he’s five feet long, he’s very much wider, but it’s very
clear to me to see even from the picture the tiger is much longer than the cage is wide.”?®
Respondents’ transport cages measured seven feet and three inches in length; forty-three inches
in width; and four feet in height.?* Therefore, the enclosures violated section 3.128 of the

Regulations (9 C.F.R. § 3.128).

5. Respondents Violated the Regulations by Failing to Provide Their Enrichment Plan
for Inspection on May 13, 2015.

The 2016 Complaint alleges that on May 13, 2015, Respondents failed to have a written
plan for environmental enrichment of Respondents’ primates available for inspection in violation
of section 3.81 of the Regulations (9 C.F.R. § 3.81).2% Section 3.81 provides, in pertinent part:

Dealers, exhibitors, and research facilities must develop, document, and follow an
appropriate plan for environment enhancement adequate to promote the
psychological well-being of nonhuman primates. The plan must be in accordance
with the currently accepted professional standards as cited in appropriate
professional journals or reference guides, and as directed by the attending
veterinarian. This plan must be made available to APHIS upon request, and, in the
case of research facilities, to officials of any pertinent funding agency.

9 C.F.R. §3.81.
The ALJ found this violation not proven, stating as follows:

Respondents contend that they had an environmental enhancement plan
and that the inspectors simply did not look at it because they did not wish to
return to the barn where it was located. Respondents’ Opposition Brief at 18.

The testimony shows that when the inspectors asked to see the
enhancement plan, they were told that it was not in the book that was there but
was most likely in the barn and the inspectors did not ask to go see it. Tr. 831.
This issue could have been resolved by the inspectors while they were on-site. It
is undisputed that the monkeys had enhancement. Tr. 657-659. Accordingly, this

202 CX-4 at 27.

203 Ty, 161.

M cxX-4datl,

2052016 Complaint at 5-6 § 10(e).
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violation is not established.
Initial Decision at 38.

Whether Respondents provided enrichment is not at issue, however.?%

The Regulations
require Respondents to make their enhancement plan available for inspection.?’” Section 3.81 (9
C.F.R. § 3.81) is specific in requiring a documental plan, and the evidence shows that
Respondents failed to make their environmental enrichment for nonhuman primates available for
review by APHIS 2% In his inspection report, ACI .1‘ote that “[a]t the time of inspection the
plan for Environmental Enhancement to promote psychological well-being and any logs or

documentation showing the plan was being followed was unavailable for review when requested

by APHIS officials.”?® At the hearing, -0 testified that the plan was not given to the

inspectors.?!! ACI -estiﬂed tha-id not know where the plan was kept*'? and

that she did not present the plan to the APHIS inspectors.?!* Accordingly, I conclude that the
ALJ erred in finding the May 13, 2015 violation of section 3.81 (9 C.F.R. § 3.81) not proven.

6. Respondents Failed to Meet the Remaining Standards.

Section 2.100(a) of the Regulations provides:

Each dealer, exhibitor, operator of an auction sale, and intermediate handler shall
comply in all respects with the regulations set forth in part 2 of this subchapter

206 See 2016 Complaint at 5-6 9 10e.
207 See 9 C.F.R. § 3.81.

208 See id.

209 CX-19 at 3.

210 As previously introduced herein (see supra note 159 and accompanying text), Ms. -
was the “authorized person” who accompanied APHIS inspectors during their May 13, 2015
inspection of Respondents’ facility. See Tr. 823-25.

21 1d at 831.
212 14 at 592.
213 14 at 591-92.
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and the standards set forth in part 3 of this subchapter for the humane handling,
care, treatment, and transportation of animals.

9 C.F.R. § 2.100(a).!* In addition to those occasions discussed above where Respondents
willfully violated section 2.100(a) of the Regulations by failing to comply with the minimum
Standards, Complainant demonstrated additional violations on September 25, 2013; January 8,
2015; and May 13, 2015. The ALJ erred in failing to conclude that a preponderance of the
evidence supports findings that Respondents violated the Regulations by failing to comply with
the applicable Standards.?!

In the main, the ALJ’s rationale for declining to find violations or to fully credit
Complainant’s documentary, photographic, and testimonial evidence was that she found no
evidence that animals were actually sick, injured, or suffering at the time of the alleged
violations because of the non-comp‘liance.216 The ALIJ utilized this flawed analysis to reject
several violations in their entﬁ‘ety. In so doing, the ALJ completely missed the point of the
Regulations and Standards: preven‘»rion.217 The purpose of requiring those who have custody of
animals subject to the Act to maintain their facilities in a manner that meets the minimum

Standards is to ensure against the potential harm to animals from substandard conditions and

treatment, 8

214 This Regulation applies to all of the alleged noncompliance with the Standards promulgated
under the Act.

251DO at 16-42.
216 See, e.g., id. at 25,28, 33, 35.
27 See supra note 72 and accompanying text.

218 See Hodgins v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., No. 97-3899, 238 F.3d 421 (Table), 2000 WL 1785733,
at *25 (6th Cir. Nov. 20, 2000) (“[T]t is difficult to see how there could have been any risk of
‘injury’ to the animals — which is what the regulation[s] [are] aimed at preventing.”);
Zimmerman v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., No. 98-3100, 173 F.3d 422 (Table), 57 Agric. Dec. 869, 873
(3d Cir. Dec. 21, 1998) (“The Judicial Officer also found that ‘[t]here is no evidence that
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3 September 25, 2013 (Lighting for Nonhuman Primates, Housing for
Tigers, and Housekeeping)

The 2015 Complaint alleges that on September 25, 2013, Respondents failed to meet the
minimum Standards with respect to lighting for nonhuman primates, housing for tigers, and
housekeeping.?'?

With respect to lighting, section 3.76(c) of the Standards (9 C.F.R. § 3.76(c)) provides:

Indoor housing facilities must be lighted well enough to permit routine inspection
and cleaning of the facility, and observation of the nonhuman primates. Animal
areas must be provided a regular diurnal lighting cycle of either natural or
artificial light. Lighting must be uniformly diffused throughout animal facilities
and provide sufficient illumination to aid in maintaining good housekeeping
practices, adequate cleaning, adequate inspection of animals, and for the well-
being of the animals. Primary enclosures must be placed in the housing facility to
as to protect the nonhuman primates from excessive light.

9 C.F.R. § 3.76(c). The 2015 Complaint alleges that Respondents violated section 3.76(c) on
September 25, 2013 by housing two nonhuman primates (spider monkeys) in a barn that had
inadequate lighting — specifically, diurnal lighting.??° I agree with Complainant that the ALJ
erred in dismissing this violation. In his inspection report, ACI-Nrote:

At time of inspection the Spider Monkeys had lighting available that did not
provide a diurnal lighting cycle for them and this was not available to them by
natural light. Additional lighting for these non-human primates either by natural
or artificial light needs to be provided that makes their enclosure lighting
uniformly diffused throughout the enclosure and that provides for a diurnal
lighting cycle which will help to provide for the well-being of these non-human

Zimmerman deliberately harmed his animals.” However, in regard to the effect and potential
effect of Zimmerman’s violations on the health and well-being of his animals, it is found that . . .
[Zimmerman’s] . . . violations, while not ‘serious,” are ‘significant’ in that they constitute
violations of the Regulations and Standards which could have affected the health and well-being
of animals under certain circumstances.”) (emphasis added); Mitchell, 60 Agric. Dec. 91, 128-29
(U.S.D.A. 2001) (“The gravity of Respondents’ violations is clearly evident. . . . While there is
no allegation in the Complaint that Respondents’ animals actually suffered injury, dehydration,
or malnutrition, many of Respondents’ violations constitute threats to the health and well-being
of the animals in Respondents’ facility.”).

219 See 2015 Complaint at 6-7 9.
220 See Complaint at 6 § 9c; Appeal at 52.
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primates as well as make the required husbandry and housekeeping practices for
this facility easier.

CX-16 at 1. At the hearing, ACI-estiﬁed that the spider monkeys were located in the very

221 that certain items in the barn “prevented the natural

back northeastern corner of a barn,
lighting that would have been coming through [the] doorway to diffuse uniformly throughout
that environment,”??? and that there was no additional lighting source.?* Further, ACI .
testified that lack of diurnal lighting negatively affects non-human primates in that “it does not
allow them to properly metabolize the food sources and to . . . have a light cycle that would
provide them with good piece [sic] of mind,” noting that “[i]t would have an ability to cause
depression.”?%

In her Initial Decision, the ALJ emphasizes that “Mr. Terranova installed lights as
requested by the inspector, and once he understood the need for diurnal lighting, put the lights on
a timer and also built an outside enclosure connected by a tunnel.”??* Respondents make the
same argument in response to Complainant’s appeal .??® As previously discussed, however,

“APHIS does not give time to come into compliance; the regulated party must always be in

compliance.”??” The September 25, 2013 lighting violation is adequately supported by the

21 Ty, 552-53.

22 Id. at 555.

223 Id. at 559.

224 Id. at 558.

225 IDO at 24 (citing Tr. 719-21).
226 See Response at 20.

227 Berosini, 54 Agric. Dec. 886, 914 (U.S.D.A. 1995); see also Volpe Vito, Inc., 56 Agric. Dec.
166, 254 (U.S.D.A. 1997) (“[E]ach . . . exhibitor . . . must always be in compliance in all respects
with the Regulations in 9 C.F.R. Part 2 and the Standards in 9 C.F.R. Part 3.”). It is well settled
that the subsequent correction of a violation does not eliminate the fact that the violation
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record.

With respect to housing, section 3.125(a) of the Standards (9 C.F.R. § 3.125(2)) requires
that “[t]he facility must be constructed of such material and of such strength as appropriate for
t};e animals involved.” #?® The 2015 Complaint alleges that on September 25, 2013, “[r]oof
panels on the top of the covered portion of the tiger exercise yard had become unfastened from
the top rails of the enclosure” in violation of section 3.125(a) (9 C.F.R. § 3.125(a)).?*

I agree with Complainant that the evidence shows that Respondents’ tiger exercise yard
and enclosures were in disrepair and structurally compromised.?*® In his inspection report, ACI

At the time of inspection the covered portion of the tiger exercise yard on the west

side of the yard had areas along the top were the heavy gauge panels attached to

the top rails of the enclosure had become unfastened. These roof panels need to be

re-fastened along the top rail to make this structurally so und and to keep it in

good repair as well as make certain the animals are contained.
CX-16 at 1. At the hearing, ACI-estiﬁed that the tigers were using an exercise yard but “the
panels had become unfastened and were not structurally stable, so needed to be refastened.”?*!
He observed that more clamps or welding were need to secure the top panels**? and further

stated: “If a strong wind or winds that we have in our area or [Mr. Terranova) has experienced in

his area were to take place and knock those down, then, yes, it certainly could” fall down, which

occurred. See, e.g., Parr, 59 Agric. Dec. 601, 624 (U.S.D.A. 2000); see also Drogosch, 63 Agric.
Dec. 623, 644 n.5 (U.S.D.A. 2004).

2289 CF.R. § 3.125(a).
2292015 Complaint at 6-7 § 9d.
230 See Appeal at 53.
231 Ty, 561.
232 [d.
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could harm the tigers.?3? I therefore reject the ALJ’s finding that “[t]here is no evidence that the
sections of panels which were loose posed any danger to the animals[.]”?** Moreover, the fact
that “the panels were in the process of being repaired” does not eliminate the violation.?** I reject
the ALJ’s finding that “this violation is not established.””?3¢
With respect to housekeeping, section 3.31(c) of the Standards (9 C.F.R. § 3.131(c))
provides:
Premises (buildings and grounds) shall be kept clean and in good repair in order
to protect the animals from injury and to facilitate the prescribed husbandry
practices set forth in this subpart. Accumulations of trash shall be placed in
designated areas and cleaned as necessary to protect the health of the animals.
9 C.F.R. § 3.131(c). Although the Standards refer specifically to trash, the Secretary has found
noncompliance based on accumulation of other items.?*’
The 2015 Complaint alleges Respondents failed to meet the housekeeping Standard in
multiple respects:
e. September 25, 2013. Respondents failed to remove from an area
adjacent to the tiger facility an accumulation of unused building materials,

including livestock panels and old lumber, and other miscellaneous items
not used for animal husbandry. 9 C.F.R. § 3.131(c).

f. September 25, 2013. There were weeds and grasses growing in and
around the premises and animal areas that offered harborage to rodents
and other animals and pests. 9 C.F.R. § 3.131(c).

g. September 25, 2013. Respondents maintained unused chain link pens

23 Id. at 562.

24 IDO at 25. The ALJ also states there is no evidence “that any animals were injured by” the
panels. Id. However, actual injury to animals is not required to establish a violation of 9 C.F.R. §
3.125(a)). See supra notes 148, 149, and accompanying text.

B3 See supra note 186 and accompanying text.
26 1DO at 25.

237 See Pearson, 68 Agric. Dec. at 713 (old cages, railroad ties, tires, miscellaneous junk,
excessive weeds, empty plastic and metal barriers, old tires, and plastic buckets).
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containing wooden structures that were in disrepair, and had weeds
growing inside of them that could provide harborage for pests. 9 C.F.R. §
3.131(c).
2015 Complaint at 6-7 § 9.
On September 25, 2013, ACI .observed an accumulation of unused building materials
— including livestock panels and old lumber, and other miscellaneous items not used for animal
husbandry — adjacent to the tiger enclosures.?*® His inspection report states:
At the time of inspection the south side of the tiger facility currently in use had an
accumulation of building materials, old lumber, livestock panels and other odds
and ends not used in the day to day husbandry practices of this facility which
prevents the required husbandry practices to be carried out in this area.
CX-16 at 3. At the hearing, ACI .estiﬁed that the issue with the “accumulation of different
building materials”?* is they were “not used in the day-to-day husbandry practices of the
animals ... and consequently, that was allowing for weeds and grass to grow up and around
them,”?*? which “allows for . . . hiding places for such things as reptiles, snakes, rodents, field
mice and rats, insects, any of which can cause potential harm or injury to the animals.””?*!
Respondents contend that “[t]he supposed accumulation of building materials, old lumber
and other odds and ends . .. was in an unused area that would not interfere with the animals.”?*?

The ALJ makes the same argument.?*? ACI.bserved, however, that the accumulated

building materials in and near animal arcas interferes with performing the required husbandry

238 See 2015 Complaint at 7  9e; CX-16 at 3.
29 Tr, 563,

240 Id

21 1d. at 564. ,

242 Response at 21 (citing Tr. 709).

243 See IDO at 26.
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practices®™ because “in order to maintain the weeds and grass, you would cither have to move
those [building materials] to do so or you would . . . be unable to do so.”?*3 I find that
Complainant has proved this violation by a preponderance of the evidence.

The evidence also shows that on September 25, 2013, there were weeds and grass
growing in and around Respondents’ premises and animal areas, offering harborage to rodents
and other animals and pests.>*® In his inspection report for that date, ACl.tates:

There are weeds and grass that have grown up and need to be cut down to a

manageable height so that rodents, pests and snakes which could cause health and

disease risks to these animals are not afforded an area to hide and make a home

for themselves.

CX-16 at 3. At the hearing, ACI .estiﬁed that there were several areas with tall, unmowed
grass as high as two feet?” and that the overgrowth would allow . . . such things to cause
potential injury to them as snakes, reptiles, and other sorts, rats, mice, insects.”*8 Moreover,
Respondents admit the presence of “high grass” and weeds on the premises.?*’ I therefore reject
7250

the ALJ’s finding “there is not sufficient evidence to find a violation.

Finally, the 2015 Complaint alleges, and the evidence shows, that on September 25,

244 See Tr. 626 (Testimony of ACI Fox) (stating that “husbandry practice” refers to the “ability to
clean properly, to make necessary repairs, to feed the animal, to get in and do what’s necessary
to ensure the health and well-being of the animal.”).

25 Id. at 564,

246 See 2015 Complaint at 7 § 9f.
247 Ty, 564.

28 Id. at 565.

9 See Response at 21 (“The inspectors had no problems with gr; side the tiger enclosur
the high grass is considered enrichment. Tr. 565. Terranova andﬁiseussed this, an

agreed that the long grass was enrichment, but he still wanted it mdwed outside the enclosures.
Tr. 706™).

20 IDO at 28.
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2013, Respondents maintained unused chain-link pens containing wooden structures that were in

disrepair and had weeds growing inside of them that could provide harborage for pests.?*! In his

inspection report, ACI .wote:

There are a number of chain link pens with old wooden structures which are no
longer currently in use and need to be removed or they need to be maintained by
cutting the weeds that grow inside of them and to remove the old wooden
structures from them that are not being maintained.

CX-16 at 3. Further, ACI.stiﬁcd that there were unused pens along the south perimeter
fence and tall grass growing alongside the perimeter fence, about three to four feet away from
the tigers.?> Respondents’ 2015 Answer admits “that there were unused pens that were not
attached to any other structure that head been weathered and become damaged,” but Respondents

have failed to address the issue on appeal.?>> Complainant has proven the violation by a

preponderance of the evidence.”**

ii. January 8, 2015 (Shelter from Inclement Weather for Tigers Housed
Qutdoors)

Complainant alleges that on January 8, 2015, Respondents failed to meet the minimum

Standards with respect to shelter from inclement weather for five tigers housed outdoors.?s

Section 3.127(b) of the Standards (9 C.F.R. § 3.127(b)) provides:

Natural or artificial shelter appropriate to the climatic conditions for the species
concerned shall be provided for all animals and kept outdoors to afford them
protection and to prevent discomfort to such animals. Individual animals shall be

21 See 2015 Complaint at 7 § 10f.
252 Ty, 565.
2532015 Answer at 3 D.9g.

254 In declining to find a violation, the ALJ noted: “There is no evidence of any rodents or pests
in these unused pens.” IDO at 28 (citing Tr. 710). The Standard, however, relates to protection
and prevention; evidence of actual infestation is not required.

255 Appeal at 57. Although Complainant references five tigers in its Appeal Petition, the 2016
Complaint mentions six tigers. See 2016 Complaint § 10a.
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acclimated before they are exposed to the extremes of the individual climate.

9 C.F.R. § 3.127(b). Exhibitors are required to provide each animal housed outdoors with adequate

shelter from the elements.?¢

The evidence shows that on January 8, 2015, Respondents’ enclosures contained a single
shelter for five tigers; this was not appropriate under the circumstances.” In his inspection
report, ACI .wrolc:

At time of inspection the enclosures housing the 5 tiger cubs at the facility had

only one housing structure which was completed and allowed protection and

comfort from the elements. We are currently experiencing temperatures and wind

chills into the high tens and 20 degree range with the chance for a winter mix

being possible. There is construction that has been started on additional housing

structures that once completed will provide tigers protection and will help to

prevent discomfort to the animals during period of inclement weather.

CX-18 at 1; see Tr. 569. The tigers weighed about sixty pounds each, and they could not all fit
comfortably in the solitary shelter.?® ACI .notcd that all five tigers could not lie down, stand,
turn, and make normal postural adjustments one time.? Instead, the tigers could elect either to

sleep outdoors or to crowd into the shelter.2¢?

Respondents contend that ACl-‘was not aware that there was a door between each

256 See Big Bear Farm, Inc., 55 Agric. Dec. 107, 122-23 (U.S.D.A. 1996) (“On a[n] . . .
inspection of Big Bear Farm, Inc., two APHIS inspectors found that ‘the petting zoo enclosure
housed 1 potbellied pig, 5 sheep and 7 goats was equipped with 2 wood shelter boxes and 1
plastic barrel. This was not enough total shelter space to accomodate [sic] all animals housed in
this enclosure at the same time.”); see also Pearson, 68 Agric. Dec. at 709 (“Mr. Pearson housed
a bobcat in an enclosure with a damaged roof that did not provide the animal with shelter from
inclement weather, in willful violation of section 3.127(b) of the Regulations™).

257 See CX-18 at 1.
28 Tr, 567, 568, 570.
29 Id. at 568.

260 1d. at 570.
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enclosure that would allow the tigers to roam freely among the enclosures.”?*! Respondents state
that “[t]he tigers had access to all of the houses, and there was hay in the two houses that could
have sheltered the tigers.”2%? The record shows, however, that only one of three “houses” was
completely finished on the day of the inspection.?®* I find sufficient evidence to support
Complainant’s allegation that Respondents’ five tigers were not provided with access to adequate
shelter from inclement weather, in violation of 9 C.F.R. § 3.127(b), on January 8, 2015.

ii. May 13, 2015 (Housing Facilities for Nonhuman Primates and Tigers and
Tiger Enclosures)

The 2016 Complaint alleges that on May 13, 2015, Respondents failed to comply with
multiple provisions of the Standards relating to housing facilities and enclosures: 9 C.F.R. §§
3.75(b), 3.75(c)(1)(i), 3.77(c), 3.125(a), and 3.131(c). Complainant contends the ALJ improperly
declined to find these violations on the ground no animal or person was actually harmed.?** In so
doing, Complainant argues, the ALJ “completely missed the point of the Regulations and
Standards: prevention.””?6>
a. Spider-Monkey Housing Facilities — Cluttél'

With regard to the condition and site of housing facilities for nonhuman primates, section
3.75(b) of the Standards (9 C.F.R. § 3.75(b)) provides:

Housing facilities and areas used for storing animal food or bedding must be free

of any accumulation of trash, waste material, junk, weeds, and other discarded

materials. Animal areas inside of housing facilities must be kept neat and free of

clutter, including equipment, furniture, or stored material, but may contain
materials actually used and necessary for cleaning the area, and fixtures and

261 Response at 22 (citing Tr. 641-42, 729).
262 Id. (citing Tr. 729).

263 See Tr. 726-29.

264 See Appeal at 50-51.

265 Id. at 51.
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equipment necessary for proper husbandry practices and research needs. . . .
9 C.F.R. § 3.75(b). The 2016 Complaint alleges that Respondents’ housing facilities for
nonhuman primates were not kept free of clutter and specifically contained, inter alia, horse
equipment, hay, building materials, and a fifty-five gallon barrel.2%¢ This was documented in an
inspection report written by ACI .2(’7 Photographs taken on the date of inspection corroborate
ACI.S inspection report and show additional items, including hay, a freezer unit, an old cage
on top of the primate enclosure, and plywood.?®® Nonetheless, the ALJ declined to find a
violation:

There is no evidence of illness or injury to the spider monkeys. There is no
evidence of rodents or other pests. The barn where the spider monkeys were
housed was also used as a storage area. There had been recent weather issues and
routine maintenance was required, although, the evidence does not establish that
the clutter rises to a level of a violation. Accordingly, this violation is not
established.

Initial Decision at 35.
The ALJ’s rationale is misplaced. Section 3.75(b) of the Standards (9 C.F.R. § 3.75(b))

does not require “evidence of illness or injury”?%’ to support a violation.?’® Moreover, the fact

21271

that the spider monkeys were housed in a barn that “was also used as a storage area™’" and

93272

experienced “recent weather issues’? does not excuse the presence of clutter therein.?”* As ACI

266 2016 Complaint at 6 § 10b.
267 CX-19 at 2.

268 CX-20 at 13; Tr. 584-85, 586.
2691DQ at 35.

270 See 9 C.F.R. § 3.75(b).

21 1DO at 35.

214

213 See Response at 23 (“The monkeys were kept in a barn that was used as such, and things had
been stored there for years. The tractor had been there for 16 years. . . . In addition, two days

60



Fox testified:

[T]he building itself must be kept in compliance status, as well as the immediate

arca. And by allowing all the storing of this various equipment, it allowed again

for various types of rodents, reptiles, insects, et cetera, that could come into the

proximity of the non-human primates and potentially threaten the health and well-

being.
Transcript at 54. ACI.lso testified that the clutter was “basically allowing for the inability
to take and perform the proper husbandry required of that building.” >’* Based on the evidence of
record, Respondents have failed to rebut Complainant’s showing of the May 13, 2015 violation
of 9 C.F.R. § 3.75(b);2” therefore, the violation is affirmed.

b. Spider-Monkey Housing Facilities — Rust

Further, section 3.75(c)(1)(i) of the Standards (9 C.F.R. § 3.75(c)(1)(1)) specifically
requires that the surfaces of housing facilities for nonhuman primates “[b]e free of excessive rust
that prevents the required cleaning and sanitization, or that affects the structural strength of the
surface[.]”2” The 2016 Complaint alleges that on May 13, 2015, “Respondents housed
nonhuman primates in enclosures that were not free of excessive rust, and could not be cleaned
and sanitized as required.”?’” Respondents admit “[t]here was about eight inches of rust on a

monkey cage”?’® but state that “[t]he rust was not affecting the integrity of the structure.”?””

prior to the inspection, there had been a tornado and bad flooding and the wind had ‘blown a lot
of stuff around.” Tr. 741. Respondents were cleaning it up.”).

274 Ty, 583.
275 See Response at 23-24.
2769 C.F.R. § 3.75(c)(1)(i).
2772016 Complaint at 6 § 10c.
278 Response at 23 (citing CX-20).
2P Id. (citing Tr. 740).
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Despite acknowledging that “[t]here is some surface rust visible on the photos,”* the

ALJ declined to find a violation:
The rust does not affect the integrity of the structure. CX 20; Tr. 742. The
cvidence does not support a finding that the rust was cxcessive or that it prevented
the required cleaning and sanitation or that it affected the structural strength of the
surface. Accordingly, this violation is not established.
Initial Decision at 36. While there is some evidence that the rust did not “impact the structural
integrity of the metal,”?®! the preponderance of the evidence — including AC]I -inspection
report,”®? photographs,”®® and testimony?®* — shows that the rust was excessive?® and prevented

the cage from being “properly cleaned and sanitized.”?%® Therefore, I conclude that the ALJ erred
in failing to find a violation.
c¢. Spider-Monkey Housing Facilities — Lighting
With regard to the lighting of sheltered housing facilities for nonhuman primates, the
Standards provide:

The sheltered part of sheltered housing facilities must be lighted well enough to
permit routine inspection and cleaning of the facility, and observation of the
nonhuman primates. Animal arcas must be provided a regular diurnal lighting
cycle of either natural or artificial light. Lighting must be uniformly diffused
throughout animal facilities and provide sufficient illumination to aid in
maintaining good housekeeping practices, adequate cleaning, adequate inspection
of animals, and for the well-being of the animals. Primary enclosures must be
placed in the housing facility so as to protect the nonhuman primates from

280 IDO at 36 (citing CX-20 at 15).
281 Ty, 743,

282 CX-19.

283 CX-20 at 15.

284 Tr, 581-83.

285 ACI !estiﬁed that rust was flaking off the door of the enclosure and coming into contact
with the'ahimals. /d. at 581. He also testified that there was no attempt to remove the rust,
encapsulate it, or cover it. /d.

286 Id
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excessive light.

9 C.F.R. § 3.77(c) (emphasis added). The evidence shows that on May 13, 2015, Respondents
failed to provide sheltered areas housing nonhuman primates (spider monkeys) with adequate
lighting to permit inspection and cleaning, as alleged in the 2016 Complaint.” ACI -
documented in his inspection report that the lighting to the indoor area of the sheltered housing
facility for nonhuman primates failed to provide enough light to permit routine inspection and
cleaning of the facility, as well as to observe the animals.”*® Moreover, ACI .cstiﬁed that the
lighting was the same issue as discovered in the September 2013 inspection.”®’

The ALIJ rejected ACI - testimony as “not credible” on the basis that “[t]he
inspectors were able to see the monkeys and speak with them.”” That fact, however, came from
the testimony of - — a contractor employed by Respondents.?’’ The ALJ also
noted that the inspectors “photographed the monkeys while they were outside, in more than
sufficient light for inspection and their well-being”;?*?> however, the ALJ failed to consider
whether the light was sufficient to permit routine cleaning.?”® The record shows that it was not.
The spider monkeys’ cage had become rusted in many areas; in fact, rust was flaking off the

front door of the enclosure and coming into contact with the animals.”®® As previously discussed,

2872016 Complaint at 6 § 10d (citing 9 C.F.R. § 3.77(c)).
288 ¢X-19 at 2.

289 Tr, 587-88.

20 1DO at 37.

291 See Tr. 822-23, 827.

22 1DO at 37.

293 See 9 C.F.R. § 3.77(c).

294 T, 581-83.
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the rusted metal prevented proper cleaning and sanitation of the cage.?®

Although Respondents placed a spotlight in the barn, the lighting was inadequate for the
spider monkeys.?”® When asked whether materials in the barn posed an obstacle to providing
lighting to the spider monkeys, ACI -testiﬁed:

Yes, they do, very much so. . . . [T]here are several of them. If the freezer wasn’t
located there, and then I’m not certain what that is behind the freezer that’s
actually directly behind it, but as you can see, it blocks the wire of the enclosure.
You have the horse material to the top of that, shelving units to the left of that.
You have all the material that’s stored on top. You have the paneling or the
lumber that’s on the alleyway. You have all of the barrels and non-used materials,
pipe rack, et cetera, next to the alleyway wall, which makes it difficult for what
natural light might be coming through that door to be uniformly distributed and to
provide for the elements of husbandry, observation, and the diurnal lighting cycle
required for the primates.

Tr. 589-90.%7 When asked how the lighting affected his inspection, ACI.responded:
Same problems that it posed for Mr. Terranova it posed for myself. . . . The
inability to assess the overall health and well-being of the primates at the time and
to assess the husbandry practices that should have been ongoing within the
enclosure at the time of the inspection and prior to that.

Tr. 590-91. The record reflects that Complainant proved this violation by a preponderance of the

evidence; the ALJ erred in finding otherwise.
d. Tiger Housing Facilities — Floors and Roof
With regard to structural strength of facilities, section 3.125(a) of the Standards (9 C.F.R.
§ 3.125(a)) provides:
The facility must be constructed of such material and of such strength as
appropriate for the animals involved. The indoor and outdoor housing facilities

shall be structurally sound and shall be maintained in good repair to protect the
animals from injury and to contain the animals.

295 See supra note 286 and accompanying text; Tr. 581.
296 Tr. 588-89.
27 See CX-19.
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9 C.F.R. § 3.125(a). The 2016 Complaint alleges that Respondents failed to maintain their
housing facilities for tigers in good repair so as to protect the animals from injury; specifically:
(1) the plywood and pallets covering the floors of Respondents’ housing facilities for tigers were
rotted and in disrepair and (2) the roof of one of Respondents’ housing facilities for tigers was
damaged and in need of replacement.?®® In her Initial Decision, the ALJ states:
The evidence shows that these enclosures were not in use and that they did

not pose a risk of injury to or escape of the animals. Accordingly, the evidence

does not establish a violation.
Initial Decision at 39. I disagree with the ALJ’s conclusion.

The evidence shows that on May 13, 2015, plywood and pallets covering the floors of
Respondents’ housing facilities for tigers were rotted and in disrepair.””® Multiple tiger units had
floors that were rotted to the point that portions of the plywood was missing.>* The photographs
taken on the date of the inspection reveal rotted wood, holes in the wood, and wet and decaying
hay.3®! ACI -estiﬁed that the effect of the disrepair on the flooring was a potential for injury
{o the tigers as openings of the pallet were exposed to the tigers.>* ACI-lso testified that the
wet and decaying hay could potentially cause disease as decaying hay turns into mold, which
3

allows for bacteria organisms to grow.>°

The evidence also shows that on May 13, 2015, the roof of one of Respondents’ housing

2982016 Complaint at 6 § 10f.

299 1. at 6 § 10£(i).

300 CX-19 at 3; Tr. 596.

0L CX-20at 9, 10, 11; Tr. 593-96.

302 CX-20 at 9, 10, 11; Tr. 593-94 (“If he were to walk in or run into that den and that foot was to
not have the ability to land on a flat surface but actually insert itself into that opening, that could
potentially allow for injury to the paw itself and/or the paw and anklet of the cat.”).

303 Tr, 594-95,
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facilities for tigers was damaged and in need of replacement.*® ACI -investigation report
notes that there was a section of material covering the plywood that was damaged.’® The
photograph taken on the date of inspection also shows that the material on the roof was
separating and splintering.*% Moreover, ACI-estiﬁed that the splintering of the roof had the
potential to cause injury to the tigers.>"’

On cross-appeal, Respondents merely state that “[t]hese enclosures were not in use”%
and “[t]he tiger depicted in one of the photographs of the enclosure had come into the enclosure
through a guillotine door that -ad opened at the inspector’s request.” 3 Apart
from Ms.- testimony, however, there is no evidence that the enclosure was not in use.
Indeed, ACI Fox testified that more than one tiger could use the enclosure, but the other tigers
were “on the road” at the time of inspection.*'® The preponderance of the evidence establishes
that Respondents failed to maintain their tiger housing facilities for tigers in good repair so as to

protect the tigers from injury, in violation of 9 C.F.R. § 3.125(a), on May 13, 2015.

e. Tiger Housing Facilities — Enclosure Construction, Climbing
Structures, and Rust

The 2016 Complaint alleges that on May 13, 2015 Respondents failed to maintain their

housing facilities for tigers in good repair so as to contain them, in violation of section 3.125(a)

3042016 Complaint at 6 § 10f(ii).
305 CX-19 at 3.
306 CX-20 at 12; Tr. 597.

307 Ty, 598 (“[1]f they were to turn around and hit that with a paw, you know, just flexing, their
normal postural adjustments, if they were to hit the cage’s edges, it can cause injury to the paw
itself.”), 599.

308 Response at 25 (citing Tr. 769).
39 Jd. (citing CX-20 at 9-12; Tr. 830).
310 Ty, 596.
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of the Standards (9 C.F.R. § 3.125(a)).*!! As previously discussed, section 3.125(a) requires that
“housing facilities shall be structurally sound and shall be maintained in good repair to protect
the animals from injury and to contain the animals.”*'?The Complaint specifically alleges that:
(1) Respondents’ tiger enclosure was not constructed in a structurally sound manner; (2)
Respondents’ tiger enclosure contained climbing structures that could provide opportunities for
the animals to escape; and (3) areas of Respondents’ tiger enclosures were rusted, which could
reduce the enclosures’ structural integrity.*'

In her Initial Decision, the ALJ concluded:

The evidence does not support a finding that the tiger enclosure was not
structurally sound. The evidence does not show that the roof panels were

unsecured or that climbing structures posed a risk of escape. The evidence also

does not support a finding that the rust was excessive or that it prevented the

required cleaning and sanitation or that it affected the structural strength of the

surface. Accordingly, this violation is not established.

Initial Decision at 41.

The evidence shows that on May 13, 2015, Respondents’ tiger enclosure was not
constructed in a structurally sound manner; specifically, the panels on the east side of the roof
were not attached to the structure’s framework and support pipe, as alleged in the 2016
Complaint.*'"* In his inspection report, ACI-NI'OIC that “the panels on the east side of the roof
... [were] simply laying on the pip [sic] roof supports and framework for the sidewalls and

overlap one another.”!* During his testimony, ACI urther explained:

[TThe entire roof of the exercise yard was now covered by panels and support

3112016 Complaint at 6-7 § 10g.
3129 CF.R. § 3.125(a).

3132016 Complaint at 7  10g.
3 1d. at 79 10(g)(i).

35CX-19 at 3.
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pipe, supporting apparatus. At the time of this inspection, the panels on the
eastern side, they were not connected to the support brackets on the cast side of
that cage, on the north side of that cage, next to what would be the south side of
the actual enclosure for the tiger next to -- or the start of the northern wall for the
exercise yard, was not attached there. And the panels themselves were not
attached to one another, nor the support pipe that ran on the length of the exercise
yard.

Transcript at 599. Moreover, photographs taken on the date of inspection show that the top of the
tiger enclosures on the east side are not connected to the sidewalls, pipe support, or to each
other.*' When viewing one such photograph?!” at the hearing, ACI observed:

You’re looking at the eastern wall of the exercise yard . . .. And on top of that is
the panels that constitute the covering of the exercise yard on the east side of the
exercise yard. It shows the overlaying of panels in a couple different directions,
and it shows that there are no clamps that are visible on any of the support
structure that’s running the length . . . . That support pipe that’s running from that
corner to the bottom of the photograph is actually a top support for that paneling,
okay? It’s not attached to that. It’s not attached to the support pipe on the cast side
of the pen, nor was it attached on the side that would have represented the north
side of the exercise yard.

Transcript at 600. In addition, ACI.estiﬁed that he did not observe any attempt to clamp or
weld the top of the framework.>'®

Respondents contend that “[t]he panels were not clamped because they had been
welded.”*!” However, apart from Mr. Terranova’s own testimony there is no evidence of such
welding.??° I conclude that the ALJ erroneously found that “[t]he evidence does not support a

finding that the tiger enclosure was not structurally sound.”?!

316 CcX-20at 3, 4.
317 1d. at 3.

318 Tr. 600-01.

319 Response at 25.
320 See Tr. 756-57.
3211DO at 41.
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Further, the evidence shows that on May 13, 2015, Respondents’ tiger enclosure
contained climbing structures that could provide opportunities for animals to escape,>?? as
alleged in the 2016 Complaint.3* In his inspection report, ACI .noted that “all sections of the
roof need to be attached properly to all wall sections, roof support pipes, and one panel to the
other to minimize the potential for escape from the enclosure.”*?* Photographs taken on the date
of inspection reveal that several climbing structures in the tiger enclosure had climbing platforms
for the tigers.*?® ACI -estiﬁed that because the panels on top of the tiger enclosure were not
attached to the structure’s framework and support pipe, the elevated climbing structures allowed
for potential escape.’?S

Although they failed to address the issue of climbing structures on appeal, Respondents
argued before the ALIJ that “the panels were not clamped because they had been welded and
therefore the climbing structures were not an issue.”*?’ As previously discussed, however,
Respondents failed to produce sufficient evidence of such welding.*?

The evidence also shows that on May 13, 2015, areas of Respondents’ tiger enclosures
were rusted, which could reduce the enclosures’ structural integrity, as alleged in the 2016

Complaint.*?® In his inspection report, ACI -bsewed various metals used in the tiger

322 See CX-20 at 5, 6.
3232016 Complaint at 7 § 10g(ii).
M CX20at 5,6,
25 17
326 Tr. 602.
327 IDO at 40 (citing Respondents’ Opposition Bricf at 18).
328 See supra note 320 and accompanying text.
3292016 Complaint at 7 § 10g(iii).
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enclosure to be rusted.**® Photographs taken on the date of the inspection show rust on the entire
door structure and the supports on the sides and the top.**! When asked to describe “the problem
with the metal” at hearing, ACI .testiﬁed: “It again was rusting and . . . if it had not been or
was not maintained, encapsulated or removed with rust inhibitor, then it would cause metal
fatigue and structural integrity failure.””**> When asked if he observed any attempt by
Respondents to remedy the rust, ACI .esponded: “Not on these sections at all.”*3* Moreover,
ACI.testiﬁed that the tigers could come into direct contact with the rusted door.*** Because
“you cannot properly clean and sanitize rust,” ACI.csliﬁed, “it allows the potential for
disease organisms and bacteria to have a foundation to begin” and affect the animals’ health.?*’
On cross appeal, Respondents argue that “[t]he rusted doors depicted in the photographs
taken during the inspection had never been painted during their 12 to 14 year existence.”*¢ That
Respondents never painted the enclosure door does not excuse the presence of rust; to the
contrary, it shows that Respondents failed to maintain the enclosure to preserve its structural
integrity.**” Respondents also contend that the doors “were made from very thick drill-stem pipe,

and the surface rust was not going to affect their integrity”;**® however, Respondents offer no

evidence or explanation to support this claim.

30 CcX-19 at 3.

B CX-20at S, 6; see Tr. 606.

32 Tr. 606.

333 Id. at 607.

34 14

335 14

336 Response at 25.

337 See supra note 329 and accompanying text.

338 Response at 25.
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Based on the foregoing, I conclude that Complainant proved by a preponderance of the
evidence that on May 13, 2015 Respondents failed to maintain their tiger housing facilities in
good repair so as to contain the animals. Accordingly, Respondents’ violation of section 3.125(a)
of the Standards (9 C.F.R. § 3.125(a)) is affirmed.

f.  Tiger Housing Facilities — Weeds and Grass

The 2016 Complaint alleges that on May 13, 2015, “there were weeds and grass growing
in and around Respondents’ premises and animal areas that offered harborage to rodents and
other animals and pests.”*3° With regard to sanitation and housekeeping, section 3.131(c) the
Standards (9 C.F.R. § 3.131(¢c)) provides in pertinent part: “Premises (building and grounds)
shall be kept clean and in good repair in order to protect the animals from injury and to facilitate
the prescribed husbandry practices set forth in this subpart.”3*’

Contrary to the ALJ’s finding, I conclude that Complainant proved this violation by a
preponderance of the evidence.**! ACI - inspection report notes that grass was growing up
through a used pile of bricks in the immediate area of the tiger housing and enclosures.**?
Photographs taken on the date of the inspection show that grass was overgrown inside the tiger
compound,”3 and ACI .estiﬁed that the overgrown grass “would allow insects, rodents, and

reptiles to gain refuge and proximity to the animals and potentially cause injury.”*** Respondents

have failed to address the issue on appeal.

339 Complaint at 7 § 10h.
309 C.F.R. §3.131(c)).
341 See IDO at 41,

32 CX-19 at 4.

M CX-20at7, 8.

344 Tr. 613.
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I disagree with the ALJ’s conclusion that “[t]here is no evidence of the height of the
weeds.”* While an exact measurement was not given, photographs taken on the date of
inspection show tall, overgrown grass.*® Furthermore, the Standards do not set forth a minimum
height requirement; the key question is whether the grass and weeds could potentially cause
injury or harm to the animals.**” Complainant has shown that they could.’*

Similarly, ALJ appears to rely on the fact that there was “no evidence of rodents or
pests™* in declining to find a violation. Again, the ALJ has taken the wrong focus. The
housekeeping Standards relate to protection and prevention; evidence of actual rodent or pest
infestation is not required. In this case, ACI .lestiﬁcd that the grass and weeds were not

“properly ke[pt] down™ and could interfere with Respondents” “ability to carry out the husbandry

5350 351

needs of the animals™"" and “potentially cause injury.

Accordingly, I reject the ALIJ’s conclusion that “there is not sufficient evidencc to find a
violation.”*? Complainant established that Respondents’ tiger compound was overgrown with
weeds and grass, which could have potentially caused injury to the animals. The May 13, 2015
violation of 9 C.F.R. § 3.131(c) is therefore affirmed.

g. Tiger Housing Facilities — Trash

5 IDO at 41.

346 See CX-20 at 7, 8; Tr. 613-14.
347 See 9 C.F.R. § 3.131(c).

348 See Tr. 613.

DO at 41.

30 Tr. 613. See also id. at 626 (Testimony of ACI-(stating that “husbandry practice” refers
to the “ability to clean properly, to make necessary repairs, to feed the animal, to get in and do
what’s necessary to ensure the health and well-being of the animal.”).

31T, 613.
32 1DO at 41.
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As previously discussed, section 3.131(c) of the Standards (9 C.F.R. § 3.131(c)) requires
that premises “be kept clean and in good repair in order to protect the animals from injury and to
facilitate the prescribed husbandry practices.”**® Additionally, section 3.131(c) (9 C.F.R. §
3.131(c)) provides: “Accumulations of trash shall be placed in designated areas and cleared as
necessary to protect the health of the animals.”%*

The 2016 Complaint alleges that on May 13, 2015, Respondents housed tigers in
facilities that were not kept clean and free of trash in violation of section 3.131(c) (9 C.F.R. §
3.131(c)).>3 I find that the evidence of record supports this violation. ACI - inspection
report notes a variety of items in the immediate area of the tiger housing and enclosures,
including a pile of used brick, metal roofing materials, assorted pipe, a two-legged wooden table,
an unused dog house, and other miscellaneous items.*>® Photographs taken on the date of the
inspection corroborate ACI .inspection report.>>” Moreover, the materials were located

9358

“within the confines and immediate area of the tiger enclosures””® and “right next to” the tiger

exercise yard.*® When asked how the materials would impact the ability to carry out the
husbandry needs of the animals, ACI .responded:
Well, unless they’re removed and picked up, there’s no way to keep -- properly
keep down the grass and weeds that would grow up, which would allow insects,

rodents, and reptiles to gain refuge and proximity fo the animals and potentially
cause injury.

3339 C.F.R. § 3.131(c).

354 Id

3352016 Complaint at 7 § 10i.
356 CX-19 at 4.

$7CX-20at 7, 8.

38T, 611.

39 1d. at 612.
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Transcript at 613 (emphasis added).

Respondents admit that “[t]he inspection report noted things like used brick, metal
roofing, and a wooden table not in use that should have been stored away from the animals.”>*°
However, Respondents also contend:

The metal roofing had blown off from the storm a few days before the inspection

and there was no tiger in the vicinity. Tr. 765. The bricks had been put down to

make a walkway, but the job could not be completed until after the rains subsided.

Tr. 766, RX 9 p. 2. The table was a pedestal that Terranova used for training. Tr.

767-768.

Response at 25-26. These arguments are rejected. As the previous Judicial Officer held, “[e]ach
Animal Welfare Act licensee must always be in compliance in all respects with the Animal
Welfare Act and the Regulations.”®! The ALJ erred by accepting Respondents’ excuses.%2

Furthermore, the ALLJ’s statement that “Respondents should not be penalized for their
partially completed efforts to improve the property”®? is misguided. The Animal Welfare Act is
a remedial statute enacted to insure that animals are provided humane care and treatment, and
AWA proceedings are not penal. *** The Administrator does not seek to punish Mr. Terranova
365

for his actions.

Based on the foregoing, I reject the ALJ’s conclusion that “there is not sufficient

360 Response at 25 (emphasis added).

31 Pearson, 68 Agric. Dec. 685, 735 (U.S.D.A. 2009), aff’d sub nom. Pearson v. United States,
711 F. App’x 866 (6th Cir. 2011).

362 See IDO at 42 (“This is a working farm and it is reasonable that equipment necessary to
complete a project, such as a brick walkway, would be in the area and it is also reasonable that
after a storm, some items may be in disarray.”).

363 Id

364 See Greenly, 72 Agric. Dec. 586, 592 (U.S.D.A. 2013); Vigne, 67 Agric. Dec. 1060, 1068
(U.S.D.A. 2008); Squires, 63 Agric. Dec. 590, 620-21 (U.S.D.A. 2004); Volpe Vito, Inc., 56
Agric. Dec. 269, 273 (U.S.D.A. 1997) (Order Den. Pet. for Recons.).

385 Greenly, 72 Agric. Dec. at 592-93.
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evidence to find a violation.”*®® Accordingly, the second May 13, 2015 violation of section
3.131(c) (9 C.F.R. § 3.131(c)) is affirmed.

As previously noted, the standard of proof by which Complainant must meet its burden in
this administrative proceeding under the Animal Welfare Act is preponderance of the
evidence.*®’ In meeting its burden of proof, Complainant bears the initial burden of coming
forward with evidence sufficient for a prima facie case.*®® Complainant has done so for these
violations. The burden of production then shiffed to Respondents to rebut Complainant’s prima
facie showing.?® Respondents have failed to rebut Complainant’s evidence of record as to these
violations.

The ALJ’s rationale for declining to find violations or to fully credit Complainant’s
documentary, photographic, and testimonial evidence (i.e., that she found no evidence that
animals were actually sick, injured, or suffering at the time of the alleged violations because of

the non-compliance) is flawed and fails to fully address “the point of the Regulations and

366 IDO at 42.

37 Davenport, 57 Agric. Dec. 189, 223 (U.S.D.A. 1998) (“The burden of proof in disciplinary
proceedings under the Animal Welfare Act is preponderance of the evidence, which is all that is
required for the violations alleged in the Complaint.”).

38 JSG Trading Corp., 57 Agric. Dec. 710, 721-22 (U.S.D.A. 1998) (Order Den. Pet. for
Recons. as to JISG Trading Corp.). See Hazardous Waste Treatment Council v. EPA, 886 F.2d
355, 266 (D.C. Cir. 1989), cert. denied sub nom. Am. Petroleum Inst. v. EPA, 498 U.S. 849
(1990); Bosma v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., 754 F.2d 804, 810 (9th Cir. 1984); NLRB v. Mastro
Plastics Corp., 354 F.2d 170, 176 (2d Cir. 1965), cert. denied, 384 U.S. 972 (1966); see also
ATTORNEY GENERAL’S MANUAL ON THE ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE ACT 75 (1947) (“There is
some indication that the term ‘burden of proof” was not employed in any strict sense, but rather
as synonymous with the ‘burden going forward’”); 3 KENNETH C. DAVIS, ADMIN. LAW TREATISE
§ 16:9 (1980 & Supp. 1989) (the burden allocated by the Administrative Procedure Act is the
burden of going forward and not the ultimate burden of persuasion).

369 See supra note 131.
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Standards: prevention.”3’® The purpose of requiring those who have custody of animals subject
to the Act to maintain their facilities in a manner that meets the minimum Standards is to ensure
against the potential harm to animals from substandard conditions and treatment.>”! Based on the
foregoing, I find that the ALJ erred in finding that Complainant failed to establish these
violations by a preponderance of the evidence.

II. Sufficiency of Sanctions

On appeal, Complainant argues that the ALJ imposed inadequate sanctions for the
violations she found.?”? Specifically, Complainant contends that the ALJ erred by: (1) assessing a
joint-and-several civil penalty of only $10,000 for Respondents’ violations of the Act and
Regulations, an amount far lower than the Administrator’s recommended penalty;>” (2)
assessing Respondents a single, shared civil penalty of $11,500 for knowingly disobeying a

_ cease-and-desist order;*’ and (3) suspending Respondents’ Animal Welfare Act license for a
period of thirty days rather than revoking it.>’> Respondents assert that even these sanctions are
“excessive.”76

The Department’s sanction policy is set forth in S.S. Farms Linn County, Inc.>"" as

follows:

370 Appeal at 51,

31 See supra note 218.
372 Appeal at 15.

373 Id. at 16.

M 1d at 21.

5 Id. at 22.

376 Response at 2.

37750 Agric. Dec. 476 (U.S.D.A. 1991) (Decision as to James Joseph Hickey and Shannon
Hansen), aff’d, 991 F.2d 803 (9th Cir. 1993) (not to be cited as precedent under 9th Circuit Rule
36-3).
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[T]he sanction in each case will be determined by examining the nature of

violations in relation to the remedial purposes of the regulatory statute involved,

along with all relevant circumstances, always giving appropriate weight to the

recommendations of the administrative officials charged with the responsibility

for achieving the congressional purpose.
S.S. Farms Linn County, Inc., 50 Agric. Dec. 476, 497 (U.S.D.A. 1991) (Decision and Order as
to James Joseph Hickey and Shannon Hansen), aft’d, 991 F.3d 803 (9th Cir. 1993) (not to be
cited as precedent under 9th Circuit Rule 36-3). “The administrative recommendation as to the
appropriate sanction is entitled to great weight, in view of the experience gained by
administrative officials during their day-to-day supervision of the regulated industry.”>”® That
recommendation, however, is not controlling.>” In appropriate circumstances, the sanction
imposed may be considerably less, or different, than that recommended by administrative
officials.3%

The Secretary has many discretionary sanctions for remedial purposes in enforcing the
Act, including temporary license suspensions without a hearing; lengthier suspensions or
revocations after notice and hearing; civil penalties; and cease-and-desist orders.*®! The purpose

of administrative sanctions is not to punish violators but to deter future similar behavior by the

violator and others.>®? In this case, the Administrator of APHIS, an official charged with the

318 Knapp v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., 796 F.3d 445, 466 (5th Cir. 2015) (quoting S.S. Farms Linn
Cty., Inc., 50 Agric. Dec. 476, 497 (U.S.D.A. 1991) (internal quotation marks omitted)).

37 Id. at 466; see also Pearson, 68 Agric. Dec. at 731; Shepherd, 57 Agric. Dec. 242, 283
(U.S.D.A. 1998).

380 pearson, 68 Agric. Dec. at 731; Shepherd, 57 Agric. Dec. at 283.
381 See 7U.S.C. § 2149.

382 Zimmerman, 57 Agric. Dec. 1038, 1064 (U.S.D.A. 1998), aff’d, 173 F.3d 422 (Table) (3d Cir.
1998); see also Chandler, 64 Agric. Dec. 876, 894 (U.S.D.A. 2005) (“The purpose of an
administrative sanction is not to punish one who may have violated governmental regulations;
the purpose is instead to take such steps as are necessary to deter the Respondent from future
conduct prohibited by the Act.”).
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responsibility for achieving the congressional purpose of the Act, recommended that the ALJ: (1)
issue a cease-and-desist order against Respondeﬁts; (2) revoke Respondents® AWA license; and
(3) assess Respondents a joint-and-several penalty of $35,000 for their violations of the Act and
Regulations and assess Respondents separate civil penalties of $36,300 (per Respondent) for
their knowing failures to obey the Secretary’s 2012 cease-and-desist order.*®3 Complainant’s
proposed sanctions are consistent with those assessed for violations in similar AWA cases.3%
The Department consistently imposes significant sanctions for violations of the Act and the
Regulations and Standards.?3

Furthermore, the Judicial Officer has long held that if the remedial purpose of the Animal
Welfare Act is to be achieved, the sanctions imposed must be adequate to deter Respondents and
others from violating the Animal Welfare Act, the Regulations, and the Standards.?*¢ Here, the
ALJ failed to appreciate that Respondents’ violations are the kind of serious, repeat, and willful

violations that thwart the Secretary’s ability to enforce the Act and warrant significant sanctions.

I therefore agree with Complainant and conclude that the ALLJ’s sanctions are insufficient in light

383 Complainant’s Post-Hearing Brief at 48-40; see Appeal at 14.

384 See, e.g., Hampton, 56 Agric. Dec. 1634, 1634-36 (U.S.D.A. 1997) (Modified Order)
(imposing a $10,000 civil penalty and permanent disqualification from obtaining a license for
thirteen violations of the Regulations and Standards); Everhart, 56 Agric. Dec. 1400, 1416-19
(U.S.D.A. 1997) (imposing a $3,000 civil penalty and permanent disqualification from obtaining
an AWA license for three violations of the Act and Regulations); Vergis, 55 Agric. Dec. 148,
162-65 (U.S.D.A. 1996) (imposing a $2,500 civil penalty and one-year disqualification from
being licensed under the Act for one violation of the Regulations and one violation of the cease-
and-desist provision of a consent decision); Anesi, 44 Agric. Dec. 1840, 1848-49 (U.S.D.A.
1985) (imposing a $1,000 civil penalty and license revocation for ten violations of the
Regulations and a previously issued cease-and-desist order), appeal dismissed, 786 F.2d 1168
(8th Cir.) (Table), cert. denied, 476 U.S. 1108 (1986).

385 See Lawson, 57 Agric. Dec. 980, 1032-34 (U.S.D.A. 1998); Volpe Vito, Inc., 56 Agric. Dec.
269, 273-74 ,277 (U.S.D.A. 1997) (Order Den. Pet. for Recons.).

386 See, e.g., Volpe Vito, 56 Agric. Dec. 269, 273 (U.S.D.A. 1997) (Order Den. Pet. for Recons.).
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of the facts and circumstances in this case. Complainant is entitled to the full relief requested in
its Appeal Petition based wholly upon the violations affirmed. The fact that additional violations
are supported by the record®®’ simply underscores the appropriateness of these sanctions.

A. Civil Money Penalties

1. Civil Penalties for Violations of the Act and Regulations

Complainant contends the ALJ erred by assessing Respondents a joint-and-several civil
penalty of only $10,000, reduced from the $35,000 civil penalty Complainant requested.*® In
challenging the appropriateness of the reduced financial penalty, Complainant argues the ALJ
failed to give due consideration to the required statutory factors.*®® Section 19(b) of the Act (7
U.S.C. § 2149(b)) provides that the following four factors must be considered when determining
the civil penalty to be assessed for violations of the Act and the Regulations and Standards: (1)
the size of the business of the person involved; (2) the gravity of the violations; (3) the person’s
good faith; and (4) the history of previous violations.**°
According to Complainant, Respondents: (1) “operate a moderately-sized business

exhibiting animals in theatrical productions and circuses,”*! (2) committed serious violations;**?

387 See supra Part I(C).

388 Appeal at 16. While it is unclear how the ALJ calculated the civil penalty, it equates to only
$500 per Respondent for each violation she found. As Complainant notes, a single penalty of
$10,000 represents just five percent of the maximum civil penalty assessable to the two
Respondents. See Appeal at 18.

389 See id. at 18 (“Consideration of the required statutory factors in accordance with departmental
precedent should have led the Judge to conclude that a greater civil penalty was warranted for
respondents’ ten violations.”).

307 U.S.C. § 2149(b).
391 Appeal at 18,

392 See id. at 18-19 (“Although the Judge described only one violation (handling) as ‘grave,” and
described the access violations as ‘minor,’ the respondents’ handling violations and failures to
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393 94

(3) have not shown good faith;**> and (4) have an established history of previous violations.>
Complainant argues the ALJ devalued the gravity of Respondents’ violations and Respondents’
bad faith, gave no consideration to Respondents’ history of previous violations, and erroneously

considered license suspension “as an auxiliary factor®*® in determining the penalty amoun

£ 396
Respondents counter that the penalty amount is “excessive.”**” In support thereof,

Respondents state that: (1) Respondents have “a small operation” of “about eight or nine

tigers”;*® (2) the “only willful violations Complainant arguably proved” were not grave, and

“none of the violations involved any allegation of harm to an animal or person”;**° (3)

Respondents did not, contrary to Complainant’s assertions,*” act in bad faith;*"! and (4
y p

provide access for inspection are the kind of serious, repeat violations that merit assessment of
the maximum civil penalties.”).

393 See id. at 19 (“The findings of violations by respondents in two previous enforcement cases
established respondents’ lack of good faith[.]”) (citing Octagon Sequence of Fight, Inc., 66
Agric. Dec. 1093, 1102 (U.S.D.A. 2007)). Complainant also notes that Respondents “failed to
comply with the order that Judge Bullard entered against them in 2012, by refusing to pay the
civil penalty assessed against them, by failing to provide the required affidavit, and by
continuing to commit the very same kinds of violations that they were found to have committed
in their first two enforcement cases.” Id.

394 See id. at 19-20 (“Here, respondents have an established history of two previous enforcement
cases wherein they were found to have willfully committed multiple serious violations, including
violations similar to those in the two current cases . . . . Moreover, the Judicial Officer has held
that ‘an ongoing pattern of violations establishes a history of previous violations for the purposes
of 7 U.S.C. § 2149(b).”) (quoting Greenly, 72 Agric. Dec. 603, 625 (U.S.D.A. 2013)).

3% Id. at 18.

396 Jd. at 18-21.

397 Response at 2.

38 Id. at 4.

399 17

400 See supra note 393.

401 Response at 5.
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Respondents “have no history of violations related to the issues in this case.”*%

First, I conclude that Respondents’ business is moderately sized. Although Respondents
claim to have had a “small operation” of “about eight or nine tigers in 2014,”4%* Respondents
“reported custody of some twenty animals in 2011 and 2012.”*% Moreover, Respondents
“admitted to operating a moderately-sized exhibition business” in Terranova 1.*° Therefore, I
affirm the ALJ’s finding that “[t]he record reflects that Respondents operate a moderately-sized
animal exhibition business|.]**%

Second, I conclude that Respondents’ violations are grave. Respondents chronically
failed to comply with the Act and the Regulations and Standards during the period August 2,
2010 through November 19, 2015.%7 Although the ALJ described only one of Respondents’

»408

violations (handling) as “grave” and characterized Respondents’ access violations as “minor,

Respondents’ handling violations and failures to provide access for inspection are the kind of

402 Id_ at 6. Respondents attempt to distinguish the present case from the “earlier ALJ ruling
involving two escaped elephants” cited by Complainant. Id.; see supra note 394. Respondents
state that “the circumstances of the elephants’ escape were far different from the tiger’s” in that
“the ALJ found no fault in Mr. Terranova’s handling of his cats, and other violations largely

were due to the actions of his agents[.]”” Response at 6.
403 Response at 4.

404 1DO at 4. See Stipulations at 2 (“Respondents represented to APHIS that they held 21 animals
in 2010, 20 animals in 2011, and 20 animals in 2012.”).

405 See Terranova Enters., Inc., 70 Agric. Dec. 925, 928 (U.S.D.A. 2011) (“Terranova admitted
to operating a moderately-sized animal exhibition business.”). Pursuant to the Rules of Practice, I
take official notice of the Initial Decision and Order and all other documents filed in Terranova
I See 7 CF.R. §§ 1.141(h)(6) and 1.145(i).

Y06 1DO at 46. See 9 C.F.R. § 2.6(c) (Table 2) (guidelines for computing annual license fees for
AWA exhibitors); Mirchell, AWA Docket No. 09-0084, 2010 WL, 5295429, at *9 (U.S.D.A.
Dec. 21, 2010).

407 See TDO at 64.
408 17 at 46.
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serious, repeat violations that merit assessment of the maximum civil penalties.*”” Moreover, I
reject Respondents’ argument that “none of the violations involved any allegation of harm to an
animal or person.”*® The purpose of the Regulations “is to reduce the risk of harm to animals
and to the public,” and many of Respondents’ violations constitute threats thereof.*!! The fact
that no harm actually resulted from Respondents’ violations does not affect my view of the
gravity of the violations.

Third, I conclude that Respondents have not shown good faith. Respondents are “habitual

»412 whose conduct reveals consistent disregard for, and unwillingness to abide by, the

violators
requirements of the Act and the Regulations and Standards.*'* The findings of violations by

Respondents in two previous enforcement cases are proof thereof.*!* Moreover, Respondents

failed to comply with the order entered against them in 2012 by, infer alia, refusing to pay the

409 See Mitchell, 2010 WL 5295429, at *13.

410 Response at 4.

M1 Mitchell, 2010 WL 5295429, at *13 (emphasis added).
2 See Shepherd, 57 Agric. Dec. 242, 287 (U.S.D.A. 1998).

3 See Knapp v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., 796 F.3d 445, 464 (5th Cir. 2015) (“The Judicial Officer
did not abuse his discretion in finding a lack of good faith, particularly in light of Knapp’s
previous violations of the AWA and regulations. See in re Mitchell, AWA Docket No. 09-0084,
2010 WL 5295429, at *7 (U.S.D.A. Dec. 21, 2010) (‘Mr. Mitchell has a history of previous
violations and this fact demonstrates an absence of good faith.); see also Horton v. U.S. Dep’t of
Agric., 559 F. App’x 527, 535 (6th Cir. 2014) (“|B]ad faith . . . can also be found where a
petitioner receives notice of his violations yet continues to operate without a license.”); Cox v.
U.S. Dep't of Agric., 925 F.2d 1102, 1107 (8th Cir. 1991) (upholding the Judicial Officer’s
finding of a lack of good faith based on a previous AWA violation and a failure to learn facts

that would have alerted petitioners to an additional AWA violation.)”).

44 See Octagon Sequence of Eight, Inc., 66 Agric. Dec. 1093, 1102 (U.S.D.A. 2007) (“Lancelot
Kollman Ramos has been a respondent in one previous Animal Welfare Act enforcement case
establishing . . . Lancelot Kollman Ramos’ lack of good faith.”).
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civil penalty assessed against them*!> and continuing to commit the same kinds of violations they

were found to have committed in the first two enforcement cases.*'® As Complainant also points

out, Mr. Terranova admitted that he intentionally violated the itinerary Regulations.*!?

Accordingly, I conclude the ALJ erred in finding “there is no evidence that Respondents acted in
bad faith.”*!8

Lastly, I conclude that Respondents have a history of previous violations. Despite
Respondents’ arguments to the contrary,*!® Respondents have an established history of rwo

previous enforcement cases wherein they were found to have willfuliy committed multiple

4

serious violations, 4?° including violations similar to those in the present case.*?! Therefore, I

affirm the ALJ’s finding that “Respondents have a history of previous violations of the Act.”*??

Furthermore, I agree with Complainant’s contention that the ALJ improperly considered

59423

license suspension “as an auxiliary factor”*?* in determining the penalty amount,*?* Collateral

415 See IDO at 45 (“The prior decision imposed a fine of $25,000, all or most of which has not
been paid by Respondents.”) (emphasis added).

46 See Terranova Enters., Inc., 70 Agric. Dec. at 975-77.
47 Appeal at 19; see Tr. 493-95.

48 1DO at 46.

419 See Response at 6.

420 See Octagon Sequence of Eight, Inc., 66 Agric. Dec. at 1102 (“Lancelot Kollman Ramos has
been a respondent in one previous Animal Welfare Act enforcement case establishing a ‘history
of previous violations’ for the purposes of section 19(b) of the Animal Welfare Act (7 U.S.C. §

2149()H.17).

421 See Terranova Enters, Inc., 70 Agric. Dec. at 975-77.
22 1DO at 46.
423 Appeal at 18.

424 Id at 18-21. See IDO at 46, 67 (“The Administrator’s proposed civil money penalty of
$35,000 for 22 alleged offenses is reduced to $10,000, considering the number of offenses
established, the size of Respondents’ business, the absence of good faith, and the determination
that license suspension is appropriate.”) (emphasis added).
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effects of suspension of an AWA license are not relevant to the sanction to be imposed for
violations of the Act and Regulations,*?* and it is well settled that financial status is not one of
the factors to be considered when assessing civil penalties.*?® Furthermore, the Judicial Officer
has held that consideration of the financial effect of license revocation in assessing civil penalties
is error:

The financial impact of revocation of an Animal Welfare Act license is not one of

the factors considered by the Secretary of Agriculture when determining the

amount of the civil penalty. Therefore, the Chief ALJ’s consideration of the

financial impact of revocation of Mr. Greenly’s Animal Welfare Act license when

determining the amount of the civil penalty to be assessed against Respondents, is

error.

Greenly, 72 Agric. Dec. 603, 625 (U.S.D.A. 2013) (Decision and Order as to Lee Marvin

Greenly and Minnesota Wildlife Connection, Inc.).*?” Thus, even if I were to find that license

425 Action Wildlife Found., Inc., 72 Agric. Dec. 666, 671-72 (U.S.D.A. 2013).

426 See, e.g., Knapp v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric. 796 F.3d 445, 465 (5th Cir. 2015) (“Neither the
statute nor the regulations require consideration of financial status, and the Judicial Officer’s
decision [not to consider factors other than those listed in 7 U.S.C. § 2149(b)] is consistent with
Department precedent.”); Action Wildlife Found., Inc., 72 Agric. Dec. at 668 (“The fact that an
entity that violates the Animal Welfare Act and the Regulations is a charitable, non-profit
institution wholly funded by one individual is not a factor required to be considered by the
Secretary of Agriculture when determining the amount of the civil penalty. While Mr.
Mazzarelli’s generosity . . . is highly commendable, I find Mr. Mazzarelli’s generosity and the
fact that Action Wildlife, Inc., is a charitable, non-profit institution . . . irrelevant to the
determination of the amount of the civil penalty.”); Bond, 65 Agric. Dec. 1175, 1180 (U.S.D.A.
2006) (“Respondent’s inability to pay the $10,000 civil penalty is not a basis for reducing the
$10,000 civil penalty.”); Everhart, 56 Agric. Dec. 1400, 1417 (U.S.D.A. 1997) (holding that a
respondent’s disability is not a mitigating factor with respect to the amount of the civil penalty to
be assessed).

427 See also Ramos, 75 Agric. Dec. 24, 53 (U.S.D.A. 2016) (“I agree with the Administrator’s
contention that the ALJ’s consideration of APHIS’ confiscation of Mr. Ramos’ elephant, when
determining the amount of the civil penalty to assess Mr. Ramos, is error.”); Lang, 57 Agric.
Dec. 91, 106 (U.S.D.A. 1998) (Order Den. Pet. for Recons.) (“The impact on a respondent’s
business of the institution of a disciplinary proceeding under the Animal Welfare Act is not one
of the statutory factors to be considered when determining the amount of the civil penalty to be
assessed against a respondent. Therefore, even if I found that the institution of this disciplinary
proceeding had a significant adverse impact on the Respondent’s business, that impact would not
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suspension or revocation would have a negative financial impact on Respondents, that collateral
effect would not constitute a circumstance to be considered when determining the sanction to be
imposed for Respondents’ violations of the Regulations.?”® Accordingly, I find the ALJ erred by
treating license suspension as a factor in determining the civil penalty amount.

Moreover, as previously discussed the ALJ found that Respondents committed ten
violations of the Regulations and Standards during the period of August 2010 to November
2015.%2° Under the Act, each Respondent could have been assessed a civil penalty of up to
$100,000 for those violations.**® The findings of additional violations on appeal underscores the
appropriateness of the requested $35,000 penalty.*!

After examining all the relevant circumstances in light of the Department’s sanction
policy and taking in to account the factors required to be considered in 7 U.S.C. § 2149(b) and
the remedial purposes of the Animal Welfare Act, I conclude the $35,000 civil penalty
recommended by the Administrator is appropriate and necessary to ensure Respondents’

compliance with the Animal Welfare Act and the Regulations and Standards in the future, to

deter others from violating the Animal Welfare Act and the Regulations and Standards, and to

be considered when determining the amount of the civil penalty to be assessed against
Respondent.”).

128 Action Wildlife Found., Inc., 72 Agric. Dec. at 672.
429 See supra note 69 and accompanying text.

430 See 7 U.S.C. § 2149(b) (“Any . . . exhibitor . . . that violates any provision of this chapter, or
any rule, regulation, or standard promulgated by the Secretary thereunder, may be assessed a
civil penalty of not more than $10,000 for each such violation, and the Secretary may also make
an order that such person shall cease and desist from continuing such violation.”). As
Complainant notes, the requested $35,000 civil penalty amounts to only $1,750 per Respondent
for each of the ten violations found proven. See Appeal at 18 n.34.

BLCf Colette, No. AWA Docket No. 03-0034, 2009 WL 2710082, at *12 (U.S.D.A. Aug. 21,
2009) (“I find the Administrator’s recommendation is based on many more violations than I
conclude Ms. Colette committed; therefore, I do not rely on the Administrator’s
commendation.”).
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thereby fulfill the remedial purposes of the Animal Welfare Act. I reject Respondents’ contention
that the ALJ’s assessment of a $10,000 joint-and-several penalty is excessive.

2. Civil Penalties for Knowingly Disobeying a Cease-and-Desist Order

On appeal, Complainant asserts the ALJ erred by assessing Respondents a single, shared
civil penalty of $11,550 for knowingly disobeying the Secretary’s cease-and-desist order issued
in Terranova I instead of assessing the penalty separately to each Respondent.**? Respondents
counter that the ALJ properly held Respondents “joint and severally, but not separately,
responsible.”*** Respondents state that because they are “are one and the same for the purposes
of this case,” the ALJ “was correct in finding that any penalties should be assessed against them
jointly and severally, as a ‘single, shared civil penalty,” and not against each Respondent
separately.”*3

The Act leaves no room for discretion regarding the civil penalty for a knowing failure to
obey a cease-and-desist order.**> “A civil penalty of $1,650 must be assessed for each offense by

any person who knowingly fails to obey a cease and desist order.”**¢ The Act defines the term

“person” to include “any individual, partnership, firm, joint stock company, corporation,

432 Appeal at 21; see supra note 6 and accompanying text. Complainant cites statutory,
regulatory, and case law to demonstrate that the ALJ should have assessed separate penalties for
each Respondent. See 7 U.S.C. § 2132(a); 7 C.F.R. § 3.91; Mitchell, WL 5295429, at *14.

433 Response at 3.
434 Id Respondents cite no legal authority to support their argument.
35 Mirchell, 2010 WL 5295429, at *14.

436 4 at *7 (emphasis added). See also Ramos, 75 Agric. Dec. at 57-59 (“The Animal Welfare
Act provides that the Secretary of Agriculture ‘shall’ assess a civil penalty against any person
who knowingly fails to obey a cease and deist order. The word ‘shall’ is ordinarily the language
of command and leaves no room for discretion, and [the Judicial Officer has] consistently
interpreted the word ‘shall’ in 7 U.S.C. § 2149(b) as requiring the assessment of a civil penalty
for each knowing violation of a cease and desist order issued by the Secretary of Agriculture.”)
(citing Knapp, 796 F.3d at 465-66).
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association, trust, estate, or other legal entity.”**” Therefore, I conclude the ALJ erred in
assessing Respondents a single, shared civil penalty for knowingly disobeying the Secretary’s
2012 cease-and-desist order. As two distinct “persons,” Respondent Keith Terranova and
Respondent Terranova Enterprises, Inc. should have been assessed separate penalties.

Further, Respondents argue the ALJ wrongly found Respondents violated the cease-and-
desist order on August 2, 2010 because “no such order had been entered” at that time.**®
Respondents are correct. In the September 26, 2016 Initial Decision, the ALJ found that
“Respondents knowingly failed to obey a cease and desist order made by the Secretary under
section 2149(b) of the Act (7 U.S.C. § 2149(b)) on three instances: August 2, 2010 (access to
facilities); April 20, 2013 (tiger escape); and November 14-19, 2015 (five days/itinerary).”**° As
Respondents correctly point out, the cease-and-desist order was issued agaihst Respondents on
December 20, 2011; therefore, Respondents could not have violated such order on August 2,
2010. I conclude the ALJ erred by including the August 2, 2010 violation when calculating the
penalty for Respondents’ non-compliance with the cease-and-desist order.

B. License Suspension

Complainant asserts that based on the procedural history and facts of this case, the ALJI’s
decision to suspend Respondents’ AWA license for thirty days rather than revoke it is

inconsistent with the Act and with case law.*?? Respondents reply that the ALJ “correctly refused

to revoke” AWA Respondents® license but “should not have suspended it.”*! Like the ALJ,

B77U.8.C. § 2132(a).

438 Response at 3.

439 I1DO at 67 (emphasis added).
440 Appeal at 22.

441 Response at 3.
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Respondents rely on the fact that “none of the violations involved any allegation of harm to an
animal or person”*? and argue that the “alleged violations here fall short of the violations that
have resulted in license revocations™ in other disciplinary cases.*? I agree with Complainant and
conclude the ALJ erred in declining to revoke Respondents’ license.

First, I find the ALJ erroneously based her decision not to revoke Respondents’ license
upon having found that Complainant did not prove enough of the alleged violations. The ALJ
states:

APHIS has recommended that Respondents’ license be revoked, relying in large

part upon the serious lapses that led to the escape of a tiger. . . . APHIS’

recommendation has been given significant weight; however, the majority of the

allegations were not proven, which justifies a reduction from the proposed

sanction.

Initial Decision at 44. There is no basis for declining to order license revocation based on an
apportioning of the violations sought by Complainant and those found by the ALJ. As
Complainant correctly notes, the Secretary may revoke an AWA license following a single,
willful violation.*** Considering that Respondents committed not just one but at minimum ten
violations, prohibiting future licensure by revocation is a fair and fitting sanction. This is
especially true in that Respondents committed the violations over a period longer than five

years.

42 14 at 4.

M3 1d (citing ZooCats, Inc. v. USDA, 417 F. App’x 378, 382 (5th Cir. 2011); White, 73 Agric.
Dec. 114 (U.S.D.A. 2014); Palazzo, 69 Agric. Dec. 173 (U.S.D.A. 2010); Pearson, 68 Agric.
685 (U.S.D.A. 2009); Int’l Siberian Tiger Found., Inc., 61 Agric. Dec. 53, 90 (U.S.D.A. 2002)).

444 Appeal at 22. See 7 U.S.C. § 2149(a); Pearson v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., 411 F. App’x 866, 872
(6th Cir. 2011) (“An AWA license may be revoked following a single, willful violation of the
Animal Welfare Act.”) (citing Cox v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., 925 F.2d 1102, 1105 (8th Cir. 1991)).

45 See Morgan, 65 Agric. Dec. 849, 874 (U.S.D.A. 2006) (“[G]enerally, a respondent who
violates the Regulations and Standards over a long period of time warrants a more stringent
sanction than a respondent who commits the same violations over a short period of time.
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I also reject the ALJ’s finding that revocation is not appropriate because the violations in
this case are not as “serious” as in other cases where licenses were revoked.**® For one,
Respondents’ failure to provide APHIS officials access for inspection “is a serious violation
because it thwarts the Secretary of Agriculture’s ability to monitor the exhibitor’s compliance
with the Animal W¢lfare Act and the Regulations and severely undermines the Secretary’s
ability to enforce the Animal Welfare Act.”**” Moreover, nothing in the Act, Regulations, or case
law requires that the violations in one case must parallel those in another to justify license
revocation. Even if the sanction imposed against Respondents was more severe than sanctions
imposed against offenders in similar cases, the sanction in this proceeding would not be rendered
invalid.**® The Secretary of Agriculture has broad authority to fashion appropriate sanctions
under the Act, and the Act has no requirement that there by uniformity in sanctions among
violators.**

Further, I conclude the ALJ erred by injecting an element of intent into the determination

of whether Respondents’ license should be revoked.*** There was no basis for the ALJ to

Violations over a long period of time often demonstrate continued disregard of the Animal
Welfare Act and the Regulations and Standards.”).

446 Soe TDO at 44.

W Terranova Enters., Inc., 71 Agric. Dec. 876, 881 (U.S.D.A. 2012) (Decision and Order as to
Craig Perry and Perry’s Wilderness Ranch & Zoo, Inc.).

48 See Morgan, 65 Agric. Dec. at 875 (“A sanction by an administrative agency is not rendered
invalid in a particular case merely because it is more severe than sanctions imposed in other
cases.”).

9 See ZooCats, Inc., 68 Agric. Dec. at 1079 n.5 (citing Morgan, 65 Agric. Dec. 849, 874-75
(U.S.D.A. 2006); Volpe Vito, Inc., 56 Agric. Dec. 166, 257 (U.S.D.A. 1997), aff’d, 172 F.3d 51
(Table), 1999 WL 16562 (6th Cir. 1999) (not to be cited as precedent under 6th Cir. R. 206),
printed in 58 Agric. Dec. 85 (U.S.D.A. 1999)).

430 See IDO at 45 (stating that unlike the respondents in Zoocats, Inc., 68 Agric. Dec. 1072
(U.S.D.A. 2009), Int’l Siberian Tiger Found., Inc., 61 Agric. Dec. 53 (U.S.D.A. 2002), and
Palazzo, 69 Agric. Dec. 173 (U.S.D.A. 2010), Respondents here “did not intend to place the
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introduce an additional element of proof not required by the Act or Regulations. As previously
discussed, the purpose of 9 C.F.R. § 2.131 is to reduce the risk of harm to animals and to the
public.**! That Respondents “did not intend to place the public in close proximity to the animals”
does not render Respondents’ violations any less grave.*? A single, willful violation is all that is
required to warrant license revocation,** and the ALJ found multiple willful violations —
including violations that put people and animals at risk of serious harm and violations that thwart
the Secretary’s ability to enforce the Act.4>*

Similarly, I conclude the ALJ’s focus on whether animals were injured as a result of
Respondents’ actions — rather than whether Respondents had actually violated the Regulations —
was misplaced.*®> Again, there was no basis for the ALJ to impose additional elements of proof
that are not required by the Act or Regulations. Actual injury or death of an animal is not a
prerequisite to finding that violations were committed, were serious, or were willful #3

I also agree with Complainant’s contention that the ALJ “failed to give [R]espondents’

public in close proximity to the animals” and therefore Respondents’ violation is “significantly
less” grave). There is no support in the case law for such a comparison.

B! Lang, 57 Agric. Dec. 59, 83 (U.S.D.A. 1998).
$21DO at 45.

453 See Pearson v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., 411 F. App’x 866, 872 (6th Cir. 2011) (“An AWA
license may be revoked following a single, willful violation of the Animal Welfare Act.”) (citing
Coxv. US. Dep’t of Agric., 925 F.2d 1102, 1105 (8th Cir. 1991));

454 See IDO at 15, 64; Terranova Enters., Inc., 71 Agric. Dec. 876, 881 (U.S.D.A. 2012) -
(Decision and Order as to Craig Perry and Perry’s Wilderness Ranch & Zoo, Inc.).

435 See IDO at 45 (“. . . the escape sub judice did not result in injury to the tiger . . .”).

436 See Mitchell, 60 Agric. Dec. 91, 128-29 (U.S.D.A. 2001) (“The gravity of Respondents’
violations is clearly evident. . . . While there is no allegation in the Complaint that Respondents’
animals actually suffered injury, dehydration, or malnutrition, many of Respondents’ violations
constitute threats to the health and well-being of the animals in Respondents’ facility.”).

90



prior history the weight it deserves.”*” Although she took notice of Respondents’ previous
cases, the ALJ did not appear to fully consider the significance of Judge Bullard’s findings

)

regarding Respondents’ “laissez-faire supervision,” “series of poor decisions” that led to an
elephant’s escape, and “lack of sufficient trained personnel.”**® In Respondents’ prior cases,
Judge Bullard found multiple violations of the Regulations with respect to camels, tigers, and
elephants in Respondents’ custody.*® In Enid, Oklahoma, one of Mr. Terranova’s elephants
escaped the grounds of a circus, ran onto a highway, and was struck and injured by a vehicle
because Mr. Terranova “exhibit[ed] the elephants under hurried conditions, without adequate
personnel.”*Y In Wakeeny, Kansas, Respondents’ personnel failed to securely house two
elephants despite tornado advisories; when a tornado struck, both elephants “spooked,” escaped
the circus grounds, and wandered into a nearby property where one of the elephants was shot
with tranquilizers.*!

Respondents’ previous violations clearly reflect — and presaged — same cavalier approach

to safety and inadequate planning as is shown in the present case.*> Whereas the earlier

violations relate to elephant escapes, the instant proceeding involves a tiger escape that occurred

57 Appeal at 25.

458 IDO at 45. For instance, despite acknowledging that “the problem of insufficient supervision
and human error again contributed to the escape” in this case, the ALJ still found that “a short
thirty day suspension of Respondents’ AWA license . .. is appropriate in this proceeding.” /d.

49 See Terranova Enters., Inc., 70 Agric. Dec. 925, 967, 992-93 (U.S.D.A. 2011) (Decision and
Order as to Terranova Enterprises, Inc. d/b/a Animal Encounters Inc. and Douglas Keith
Terranova).

460 14 at 977.
461 14 at 986-87.

462 See IDO at 16 (“Respondents were previously warned about the consequences of not having
sufficient trained personnel and willfully proceeded with the exhibition without a sufficient
number or sufficiently trained staff.”).
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during a circus performance in Salina, Kansas.*63

The evidence shows that on April 20, 2013, at the 7 p.m. performance,
Respondents exhibited their tigers to the public as part of the Tarzan Zerbini
Circus at the Salina Bicentennial Center in Salina, Kansas. CX 8; CX 11. Upon
the conclusion of the performance, one of the tigers (L.eah) was not placed in an
enclosure, but escaped and ran out into the arena’s concourse. CX 8; CX 10; CX
11; CX 12; CX 13. The tiger was loose from approximately 7:25 p.m. to 7:32 p.m.
and was secured in the women’s restroom for part of that time. CX 11 at 1.. ..

who was at the circus that evening with her family, testified that
she went into the women’s restroom. . . When Ms.-ttempted to exit, she
was instructed by a staff person to go back into the restroom. Tr. 239; CX 10. She
testified that she turned around and went back into the restroom (through the exit
door) as instructed, and a tiger was inside the restroom walking towards her. Tr.
240; CX 10.

Initial Decision at 11-13. To allow such careless licensees as Respondents to continue placing
both animals and the public in harm’s way would be contrary to the goals of the Act.¢*

I also note that the ALIJ failed to explain the rationale behind her decision to order “a short
thirty day” license suspension or why she believed it to be an appropriate sanction,®®

Respondents have, however, previously been found in violation of the
Animal Welfare Act. In the prior case, the Judge found that “Mr. Terranova’s
laissez-faire supervision led to camels being left unattended and the series of poor
decisions that led to Kamba’s escape and injury in Enid, Oklahoma” and that “[i]t
is clear to me that additional trained personnel and more attention to decision
making could have averted or migrated some of the unfortunate events that led to
two elephant escapes.” Terranova 2009/2010 Cases at 57. While the escape sub
Judice did not result in injury to the tiger and there is no evidence of a laissez-faire
attitude, the problem of insufficient supervision and human error again
contributed to the escape. The prior decision imposed a fine of $25,000, all or
most of which has not been paid by Respondents. Accordingly, a short thirty day
suspension of Respondents’ AWA license number 74-C-0199 is appropriate in
this proceeding.

463 Id. at 16 (“Respondents previously have been found to have insufficient trained personnel
available to work with their animals.”); id. at 45 (stating that Respondents “willfully failed to
have sufficient trained staff loading the tigers into the cages|,] leading to an escape”).

464 See supra note 364 and accompanying text.

465 DO at 45.
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Initial Decision at 45. It is unclear how Respondents’ failure to pay the $25,000 civil penalty
assessed in Terranova I would justify license suspension over revocation in this proceeding.
Furthermore, I reject the ALJ’s conclusion that a thirty-day license suspension is
appropriate under the facts. The facts of this case warrant revocation of Respondents” AWA
license. Although this sanction may seem relatively severe, Respondents’ continued failures to
abide by the Regulations and Standards, to the detriment of animal health and safety to the
public, shows that Respondents are not qualified to be licensed.*®® Moreover, the Judicial Officer
has held that “[i]f the remedial purpose of the Animal Welfare Act is to be achieved, the sanction
imposed must be adequate to deter Respondent and others from violating the Animal Welfare
Act, the Regulations, and the Standards.”*®” To merely suspend Respondents’ license for a period
of thirty days will not ensure Respondents’ compliance with the Act. Given Respondents’ pattern
of willful violations, I find that permanent license revocation is appropriate.*
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. The Secretary of Agriculture has jurisdiction in this matter.

2. Modification of Judge Wirth’s September 26, 2016 Decision and Order is warranted.

466 See Volpe Vito, Inc., 56 Agric. Dec. 166, 257 (U.S.D.A. 1997); S.S. Farms Linn Cty., Inc., 50
Agric. Dec. 476, 497 (U.S.D.A. 1991) (“Respondents contend that the sanction is too severe, but
the ALJ’s decision reflects the serious nature of the numerous violations, many of which were
recurrent. The ALJ’s sanction coincides with the sanction recommended by the administrative
officials as the sanction necessary to achieve the remedial purposes of the Act.”).

47 Volpe Vito, Inc., 56 Agric. Dec. 269, 273 (U.S.D.A. 1997) (Order Den. Pet. for Recons.).

468 Pearson v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., 411 F. App’x 866, 872 (6th Cir. 2011) (affirming revocation
of respondent’s AWA license) (“Petitioner’s failure to bring his facilities into compliance after
repeated warnings also makes clear that his violations were willful.”).
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3. On August 2, 2010, Respondents willfully violated the Act and Regulations by failing to
have a responsible person available to provide access to APHIS officials to conduct
compliance inspections. 7 U.S.C. § 2146(a); 9 C.F.R. § 2.126(a).

4. On September 28, 2012,* Respondents willfully violated the Act and Regulations by failing
to provide access to allow APHIS officials access to their place of business to conduct an
investigation, in violation of 7 U.S.C. § 2146(a) and 9 C.F.R. §§ 2.126(a) and (b).

5. To promote the remedial purpose of the Act, it is appropriate to impose a sanction for
Respondents’ violation of the Act on September 28, 2012 (access to facilities).

6. On or about April 20, 2013, Respondents willfully violated the Act and Regulations by
failing, during public exhibition, to handle an adult tiger with sufficient distance and/or
barriers between the tiger and the public, and to have the tiger under the direct control and
supervision of a knowledgeable and experienced animal handler. 9 C.F.R. §§ 2.131(c)(1),
2.131(d)(3).

7. From November 14, 2015 to November 19, 2015, Respondents willfully violated the
Regulations, 9 C.F.R. § 2.126(c), by failing to timely submit an accurate travel itinerary.

8. Respondents knowingly failed to obey a cease-and-desist order issued by the Secretary under
section 2149(b) of the Act (7 U.S.C. § 2149(b)) on September 28, 201247 (access to
facilities) (one violation); on April 20, 2013 (tiger escape) (two violations); and on
November 14, 2015 to November 19, 2015 (itinerary/six days) (six violations). Pursuant to 7

C.F.R. § 3.91(b)(2)(ii), each Respondent is subject to a civil penalty of $1,650 for each

469 The 2015 Complaint alleges that the violation was on September 28, 2012 — not September 8,
2012, as the ALJ stated in her Conclusions of Law. See 2015 Complaint at 5 § 6.

410 See supra note 469.
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

\

knowing failure to obey the Secretary’s cease-and-desist order, for a total of $14,850 per
Respondent.
Revocation of Respondents’ AWA license (No. 74-C-0199), as recommended by the
Administrator, is warranted under the circumstances.
Based on the number of offenses established, the size of Respondents’ business, the absence
of good faith, and the history of previous violations by Respondents, the Administrator’s
recommended joint-and-several penalty of $35,000 for violations of the Act and Regulations
is appropriate.
An order directing Respondents to cease and desist from violating the Animal Welfare Act
and the Regulations is appropriate.
An order assessing Douglas Keith Terranova a civil penalty of $14,850 for his knowing
failures to obey the Secretary’s 2012 cease-and-desist order is appropriate.
An order assessing Terranova Enterprises, Inc. a civil penalty of $14,850 for its knowing
failures to obey the Secretary’s 2012 cease-and-desist order is appropriate.
A cease and desist order, revocation of Respondents’ AWA license, assessment of a $35,000
joint-and several civil penalty against Respondents, and assessment of separate civil penalties
of $14,850 against each Respondent are necessary to ensure Respondents’ compliance with
the Animal Welfare Act and Regulations in the future, to deter others from violating the
Animal Welfare Act and the Regulations, and to fulfill the remedial purposes of the Animal
Welfare Act.

For the foregoing reasons, the following Order is issued.

ORDER
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. Respondents Douglas Keith Terranova and Terranova Enterprises, Inc., their agents and
employees, successors and assigns, directly or indirectly through any corporate or other
device, are ORDERED to cease and desist from violating the Animal Welfare Act and the
Regulations.

. Respondents Douglas Keith Terranova and Terranova Enterprises, Inc.”’s AWA license (No.
74-C-0199) is REVOKED.

. Respondents Douglas Keith Terranova and Terranova Enterprises, Inc. are jointly and
severally assessed a civil penalty of thirty-five thousand dollars ($35,000) for the ten
violations found in Judge Wirth’s September 26, 2016 Decision and Order. The civil penalty
shall be made by check made payable to the Treasurer of the United States and remitted
either by U.S. Mail addressed to USDA, APHIS, Miscellaneous, PO Box 979043, St. Louis,
MO 63197-9000, or by overnight delivery addressed to US Bank, Attn: Govt Lockbox
979043, 1005 Convention Plaza, St. Louis, MO 63101.

. Respondent Douglas Keith Terranova is assessed a civil penalty of $14,850 for his knowing
failures to obey the Secretary’s 2012 cease-and-desist order, payable as set forth in Paragraph
No. 4 above.

. Respondent Terranova Enterprises, Inc. is assessed a civil money penalty of $14,850 for its
knowing failures to obey the Secretary’s 2012 cease-and-desist order, payable as set forth in

Paragraph No. 4 above.
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RIGHT TO SEEK JUDICIAL REVIEW

Mr. Terranova has the right to seek judicial review of the Order in this Decision and
Order in the appropriate United States Court of Appeals in accordance with 28 U.S.C. §§ 2341-
2350. Mr. Terranova must seek judicial review within sixty (60) days after entry of the Order in
this Decision and Order.*” The date of entry of the Order in this Decision and Order is August
30, 2019.

Copies of this Order shall be served by the Hearing Clerk upon each of the parties, with
courtesy copies provided via email where available.

Done at Washington, D.C.,
this 30th day of August 2019

Judicial Officer

Hearing Clerk’s Office

U.S. Department of Agriculture

South Building, Room 1031

1400 Independence Avenue, SW
Washington, D.C. 20250-9203

Tel:  202-720-4443

Fax: 202-720-9776

SM.OHA .HearingClerks@OHA.USDA.GOV

717 U.S.C. § 2149(c).
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